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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The words “may,” “will,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “aim,” “seek,” and similar expressions as they relate to us
or our management are intended to identify these forward-looking statements. All statements by us regarding our expected financial position, revenues, cash
flows and other operating results, business strategy, legal proceedings, and similar matters are forward-looking statements. Our expectations expressed or
implied in these forward-looking statements may not turn out to be correct. Our results could be materially different from our expectations because of various
risks, including the risks discussed in “Part I — Item 1A — Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019 and
in our other periodic and current reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the
date as of which such statement is made, and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement after the date as
of which such statement was made, whether to reflect changes in circumstances or our expectations, the occurrence of unanticipated events, or otherwise.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in millions; unaudited)

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
ASSETS

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,040  $ 9,676
Accounts receivable, net 10,517  12,371
Short-term financing receivables, net 4,277  4,398
Inventories, net 3,360  3,649
Other current assets 6,461  6,044

Total current assets 33,655  36,138
Property, plant, and equipment, net 5,505  5,259
Long-term investments 782  1,005
Long-term financing receivables, net 4,131  4,224
Goodwill 40,015  40,089
Intangible assets, net 20,948  22,270
Other non-current assets 4,856  2,835

Total assets $ 109,892  $ 111,820
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE SHARES, AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:    
Short-term debt $ 4,884  $ 4,320
Accounts payable 18,097  19,213
Accrued and other 7,455  8,495
Short-term deferred revenue 13,043  12,944

Total current liabilities 43,479  44,972
Long-term debt 48,640  49,201
Long-term deferred revenue 11,135  11,066
Other non-current liabilities 6,525  6,327

Total liabilities 109,779  111,566
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)  
Redeemable shares (Note 17) 1,774  1,196
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):    
Common stock and capital in excess of $0.01 par value (Note 14) 15,179  16,114
Treasury stock at cost (65)  (63)
Accumulated deficit (21,053)  (21,349)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (525)  (467)

Total Dell Technologies Inc. stockholders’ equity (deficit) (6,464)  (5,765)
Non-controlling interests 4,803  4,823

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (1,661)  (942)

Total liabilities, redeemable shares, and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 109,892  $ 111,820

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
(in millions, except per share amounts; unaudited)

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018

Net revenue:    
Products $ 16,754  $ 16,671
Services 5,154  4,685

Total net revenue 21,908  21,356
Cost of net revenue:    

Products 13,079  13,606
Services 2,032  1,872

Total cost of net revenue 15,111  15,478
Gross margin 6,797  5,878

Operating expenses:    
Selling, general, and administrative 5,071  4,944
Research and development 1,176  1,087

Total operating expenses 6,247  6,031
Operating income (loss) 550  (153)

Interest and other, net (693)  (470)
Loss before income taxes (143)  (623)

Income tax benefit (472)  (85)
Net income (loss) 329  (538)

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 36  98

Net income (loss) attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. $ 293  $ (636)

    

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. - basic:
Dell Technologies Common Stock $ 0.41   
Class V Common Stock   $ 2.36
DHI Group   $ (1.95)

    

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. - diluted:
Dell Technologies Common Stock $ 0.38   
Class V Common Stock   $ 2.33
DHI Group   $ (1.95)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

6



Table of Contents

DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in millions; unaudited)

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
Net income (loss) $ 329  $ (538)
    

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax    
Foreign currency translation adjustments (158)  (342)
Available-for-sale investments:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) —  (7)
Reclassification adjustment for net gains realized in net income (loss) —  (1)

Net change in market value of investments —  (8)
Cash flow hedges:    

Change in unrealized gains 152  121
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains) losses included in net income (loss) (58)  31

Net change in cash flow hedges 94  152
Pension and other postretirement plans:    

Recognition of actuarial net gain from pension and other postretirement plans 7  —
Reclassification adjustments for net (gains) losses from pension and other —  —

Net change in actuarial net gain from pension and other postretirement plans 7  —
    

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax expense (benefit) of $7 and $(2), respectively, (57)  (198)
Comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 272  (736)

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 36  98
Less: Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 1  (5)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. $ 235  $ (829)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions; continued on next page; unaudited)

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income (loss) $ 329  $ (538)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 1,616  1,914
Amortization of debt issuance costs 43  36
Stock-based compensation expense 263  199
Deferred income taxes (813)  (363)
Provision for doubtful accounts — including financing receivables 38  37
Other (46)  (1)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions:    
Accounts receivable 1,753  949
Financing receivables 121  (249)
Inventories 273  (389)
Other assets (276)  (144)
Accounts payable (1,045)  270
Deferred revenue 269  287
Accrued and other liabilities (1,843)  (849)

Change in cash from operating activities 682  1,159
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Investments:    
Purchases (38)  (439)
Maturities and sales 337  531

Capital expenditures (610)  (273)
Proceeds from sale of facilities, land, and other assets —  10
Capitalized software development costs (106)  (89)
Collections on purchased financing receivables 7  10
Acquisition of businesses, net (45)  —
Divestitures of businesses, net —  142
Asset acquisitions, net —  (38)
Asset dispositions, net (3)  (3)

Change in cash from investing activities (458)  (149)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(continued; in millions; unaudited)

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Share repurchases for tax withholdings of equity awards (215)  (100)
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock of subsidiaries 133  642
Repurchases of common stock of subsidiaries (592)  —
Proceeds from debt 9,563  1,863
Repayments of debt (9,569)  (1,822)
Other (39)  (40)

Change in cash from financing activities (719)  543
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (36)  (86)
Change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (531)  1,467
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of the period 10,240  14,378

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of the period $ 9,709  $ 15,845

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

9



Table of Contents

DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in millions; continued on next page; unaudited)

 
Common Stock and

Capital in Excess of Par
Value  Treasury Stock           

 Dell Technologies Common Stock (a)           

 
Issued
Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)  

Dell
Technologies
Stockholders’

Equity
(Deficit)  

Non-
Controlling

Interests  
Total

Stockholders’ Equity
(Deficit)

Balances as of February 1, 2019 721  $ 16,114  2  $ (63)  $ (21,349)  $ (467)  $ (5,765)  $ 4,823  $ (942)
Adjustment for adoption of accounting
standards (Note 1) —  —  —  —  3  —  3  —  3

Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  293  —  293  36  329

Foreign currency translation adjustments —  —  —  —    (158)  (158)  —  (158)

Cash flow hedges, net change —  —  —  —  —  93  93  1  94

Pension and other post-retirement —  —  —  —  —  7  7  —  7

Issuance of common stock —  (3)  —  —  —  —  (3)  —  (3)

Stock-based compensation expense —  42  —  —  —  —  42  221  263

Treasury stock repurchases —  —  —  (2)  —  —  (2)  —  (2)

Revaluation of redeemable shares —  (578)  —  —  —  —  (578)  —  (578)
Impact from equity transactions of non-
controlling interests —  (396)  —  —  —  —  (396)  (278)  (674)

Balances as of May 3, 2019 721  $ 15,179  2  $ (65)  $ (21,053)  $ (525)  $ (6,464)  $ 4,803  $ (1,661)

_________________
(a) See Note 14 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on Dell Technologies Common Stock.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(continued; in millions; unaudited)

 
Common Stock and Capital in Excess of

Par Value  Treasury Stock           

 DHI Group  
Class V Common

Stock  DHI Group  
Class V Common

Stock           

 
Issued
Shares  Amount  

Issued
Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)  

Dell
Technologies
Stockholders’

Equity
(Deficit)  

Non-
Controlling

Interests  
Total

Stockholders’ Equity
(Deficit)

Balances as of
February 2, 2018 571  $ 9,848  223  $ 10,041  1  $ (16)  24  $(1,424)  $ (6,860)  $ 130  $ 11,719  $ 5,766  $ 17,485

Adjustment for
adoption of
accounting
standard (Note 1) —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  58  (58)  —  (5)  (5)

Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (636)  —  (636)  98  (538)
Foreign currency
translation
adjustments —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (342)  (342)  —  (342)
Investments, net
change —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (5)  (5)  (3)  (8)
Cash flow
hedges, net
change —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  154  154  (2)  152
Issuance of
common stock (1)  (3)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3)  —  (3)
Stock-based
compensation
expense —  22  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  22  177  199
Treasury stock
repurchases —  —  —  —  —  (37)  —  —  —  —  (37)  —  (37)
Revaluation of
redeemable
shares —  (460)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (460)  —  (460)
Impact from
equity
transactions of
non-controlling
interests —  73  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  73  464  537

Balances as of
May 4, 2018 570  $ 9,480  223  $ 10,041  1  $ (53)  24  $(1,424)  $ (7,438)  $ (121)  $ 10,485  $ 6,495  $ 16,980

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

NOTE 1 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION

References in these Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements to the “Company” or “Dell Technologies” mean Dell Technologies Inc.
individually and together with its consolidated subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation — The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019. These Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustments of a normal recurring nature considered necessary to fairly state the financial position of Dell
Technologies Inc. as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the results of its operations and corresponding comprehensive income (loss) for the three months
ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018, and its cash flows for the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. The results of
operations, comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018 are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for the full fiscal year or for any other fiscal period.

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52- or 53-week period ending on the Friday nearest January 31. The fiscal year ended February 1, 2019 (“Fiscal 2019”) was
a 52-week period, and the fiscal year ending January 31, 2020 (“Fiscal 2020”) will be a 52-week period.

Principles of Consolidation — These Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Dell Technologies and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, as well as the accounts of VMware, Inc., Pivotal Software, Inc. (“Pivotal”), and SecureWorks Corp. (“Secureworks”), each of which is majority-
owned by Dell Technologies. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in these Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements to “VMware” mean the VMware
reportable segment, which reflects the operations of VMware, Inc. (NYSE: VMW) within Dell Technologies.

EMC Merger Transaction — On September 7, 2016, the Company completed its acquisition of EMC Corporation (“EMC”) by merger (the “EMC merger
transaction”). The consolidated results of EMC are included in Dell Technologies’ consolidated results presented in these financial statements.

Pivotal Initial Public Offering — On April 24, 2018, Pivotal, which is majority-owned by Dell Technologies, completed a registered underwritten initial
public offering (“IPO”) of its Class A common stock (NYSE: PVTL). The results of Pivotal’s operations are included in other businesses. For more
information regarding the Company’s ownership of Pivotal, see Note 13 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments — In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued amended guidance
which replaces the current incurred loss impairment methodology for measurement of credit losses on financial instruments with a methodology that reflects
expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. Public entities
must adopt the new guidance for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted
for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the standard will have on the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software — In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance on a customer’s accounting for implementation costs
incurred in a cloud-computing arrangement when hosted by a vendor. In a hosting arrangement that is a service contract, certain implementation costs should
be capitalized and amortized over the term of the arrangement. Public entities must adopt the new guidance for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company does
not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Leases — In February 2016, the FASB issued amended guidance on the accounting for leasing transactions. The primary objective of this update is to increase
transparency and comparability among organizations by requiring lessees to recognize a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments and a right-
of-use (“ROU”) asset for the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The guidance also results in some changes to lessor accounting and requires
additional disclosures about all leasing arrangements. 

The Company adopted the standard (the “new lease standard”) as of February 2, 2019 using a modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative-effect
adjustment to the opening balance of stockholders’ equity (deficit) as of the adoption date. The Company elected to apply the practical expedient using the
transition option whereby prior comparative periods were not retrospectively adjusted in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Accordingly, prior
comparative periods have not been adjusted in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company also elected the package of practical
expedients which does not require reassessment of initial direct costs, classification of a lease, and definition of a lease.

The adoption of the new lease standard resulted in the recognition of $1.6 billion in operating lease liabilities and related ROU assets on the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. The Company recorded an immaterial adjustment to stockholders’ equity (deficit) as of February 2, 2019 to reflect the
cumulative effect of adoption of the new lease standard. As of February 2, 2019, there were no material finance leases for which the Company was a lessee.

In the area of lessor accounting, as of February 2, 2019, the Company began to originate operating leases due to the elimination of third-party residual value
guarantee insurance from the sales-type lease classification test. Leases that commenced prior to the adoption of the new lease standard were not reassessed or
restated pursuant to the practical expedients elected. Accordingly, there was no cumulative adjustment to stockholders’ equity (deficit) related to lessor
accounting.

See Note 4 and Note 5 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about the Company’s leases from a lessor
and lessee perspective, respectively.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

NOTE 2 — INTERIM UPDATE TO SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

As discussed in Note 1 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted the new lease standard as of February 2,
2019, using the modified retrospective method. A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. The Company enters into contracts that are, or contain, leases as both a lessee and a lessor. The following accounting
policies have been updated as part of the adoption of the new lease standard.

Accounting for Operating Leases as a Lessee — In its ordinary course of business, the Company enters into leases as a lessee for office buildings,
warehouses, employee vehicles, and equipment. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at inception. Operating leases result
in the recognition of ROU assets and lease liabilities on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. ROU assets represent the right to use an
underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease, measured on a discounted basis.

At lease inception, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The operating lease ROU asset equals the
lease liability adjusted for any initial direct costs, prepaid or deferred rent, and lease incentives.
The Company uses the implicit rate when readily determinable. As most of the leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. Incremental borrowing rates
used to determine the present value of lease payments were derived in reference to the Company’s secured-debt yields corresponding to the lease
commencement date.

The lease term may include options to extend or to terminate the lease that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. Lease expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term in most instances.

The Company has elected not to record leases with an initial term of 12 months or less on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. Lease expense
on such leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company does not generate material sublease income and has no material related
party leases. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

The Company’s office building agreements contain costs such as common area maintenance and other executory costs that are variable in nature. Variable
lease costs are expensed as incurred. The Company combines lease and non-lease components, such as common area and other maintenance costs, in
calculating the ROU assets and lease liabilities for its office buildings and employee vehicles. Under certain service agreements with third-party logistic
providers, the Company directs the use of the inventory within the warehouses and, therefore, controls the assets. The warehouses and some of the equipment
used are considered embedded leases. The Company accounts for the lease and non-lease components separately. The lease components consist of the
warehouses and some of the equipment, such as conveyor belts. The non-lease components consist of services and other shared equipment, such as material
handling and transportation. The Company allocates the consideration to the lease and non-lease components using their relative standalone values. See Note
5 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Accounting for Leases as a Lessor — The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Dell Financial Services and its affiliates (“DFS”), acts as a lessor to provide
equipment financing to customers through a variety of lease arrangements (“DFS leases”). Subsequent to the adoption of the new lease standard, new DFS
leases are classified as sales-type leases, direct financing leases, or operating leases. Direct financing leases under the new lease standard are immaterial.
Leases that commenced prior to the adoption of the new lease standard were not reassessed or restated pursuant to the practical expedients elected and will
continue to be accounted for under previous lease accounting guidance.
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DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, DFS allocates consideration under the contract to each component based on relative standalone
selling price. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer control to the lessee, the contract is typically classified as a sales-type lease. Through these
arrangements, the lessee has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and has the right to direct the use of such
asset during the period of use. In many arrangements, the lessee also retains ownership at the end of the lease term. On commencement of sales-type leases,
the Company recognizes profit up-front, and amounts due from the customer under the lease contract are recognized as financing receivables on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Interest income is recognized over the term of the lease based on the effective interest method as Net revenue.
For sales and other taxes collected from the lessee, the Company has elected not to include such taxes as part of lease revenue.

All other leases which do not meet the definition of a sales-type lease or direct financing lease are classified as operating leases. The underlying asset in an
operating lease arrangement is carried at depreciated cost as “Equipment under operating leases” within Property, plant, and equipment, net on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the term of the underlying lease contract and is
recognized as Cost of net revenue. The depreciable basis is the original cost of the equipment less the estimated residual value of the equipment at the end of
the lease term. The Company recognizes operating lease revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term and expenses deferred initial direct costs on the
same basis. Impairment of equipment under operating leases is assessed on the same basis as other long-lived assets.

DFS provides lessees with the option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying asset at the end of the lease term, which is considered when evaluating
lease classification. In general, DFS’s lease arrangements do not have variable payment terms and are non-cancelable.

See Note 4 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding DFS leasing arrangements.

Financing Receivables — Financing receivables are presented net of allowance for losses and consist of customer receivables and residual interest. Customer
receivables, gross includes amounts due from customers under revolving loans, fixed-term loans, fixed-term sales-type or direct financing leases, and accrued
interest. The Company has two portfolios: (1) fixed-term leases and loans and (2) revolving loans, and assesses risk at the portfolio level to determine the
appropriate allowance levels. The portfolio segments are further segregated into classes based on products, customer type, and credit risk evaluation: (1)
Revolving - Dell Preferred Account (“DPA”); (2) Revolving - Dell Business Credit (“DBC”); and (3) Fixed-term - Consumer and Commercial. Fixed-term
leases and loans are offered to qualified small and medium-sized businesses, large commercial accounts, governmental organizations, and educational entities.
Additionally, fixed-term loans are also offered to certain individual consumer customers. Revolving loans are offered under private label credit financing
programs. The DPA revolving loan programs are offered to individual consumer customers and the DBC revolving loan programs are offered to small and
medium-sized business customers.

The Company retains a residual interest in equipment leased under its fixed-term lease programs. The amount of the residual interest is established at the
inception of the lease based upon estimates of the value of the equipment at the end of the lease term using historical studies, industry data, and future value-
at-risk demand valuation methods. On a quarterly basis, the Company assesses the carrying amount of its recorded residual values for impairment.
Anticipated declines in specific future residual values that are considered to be other-than-temporary are recorded currently in earnings. Generally, residual
value risk on equipment under lease is not considered to be significant because of the existence of a secondary market with respect to the equipment. The
lease agreement also clearly defines applicable return conditions and remedies for non-compliance, to ensure that the leased equipment will be in good
operating condition upon return. Model changes and updates, as well as market strength and product acceptance, are monitored and adjustments are made to
residual values in accordance with the significance of any such changes. Remarketing sales staff works closely with customers and dealers to manage the sale
of lease returns and the recovery of residual exposure. As of May 3, 2019, the Company has not recorded significant residual value impairment.
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Asset Securitization — The Company transfers certain U.S. and European customer loan and lease payments and associated equipment to Special Purpose
Entities (“SPEs”) that meet the definition of a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) and are consolidated into the Consolidated Financial Statements. These SPEs
are bankruptcy-remote legal entities with separate assets and liabilities. The purpose of the SPEs is to facilitate the funding of customer lease and loan
payments and associated equipment in the capital markets. These SPEs have entered into financing arrangements with multi-seller conduits that, in turn, issue
asset-backed debt securities in the capital markets. The asset securitizations in the SPEs are accounted for as secured borrowings. See Note 4 of the Notes to
the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the impact of the consolidation.
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NOTE 3 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The following table presents the Company’s hierarchy for its assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

 

Quoted
Prices

in Active
Markets for

Identical
Assets  

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs    

Quoted
Prices

in Active
Markets for

Identical
Assets  

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs   

 (in millions)
Assets:                
Cash and cash equivalents:                

Money market funds $ 5,167  $ —  $ —  $ 5,167  $ 5,221  $ —  $ —  $ 5,221
Debt securities:                
Equity and other securities 15  32  —  47  314  20  —  334
Derivative instruments —  168  —  168  —  97  —  97

Total assets $ 5,182  $ 200  $ —  $ 5,382  $ 5,535  $ 117  $ —  $ 5,652

Liabilities:                
Derivative instruments $ —  $ 28  $ —  $ 28  $ —  $ 60  $ —  $ 60

Total liabilities $ —  $ 28  $ —  $ 28  $ —  $ 60  $ —  $ 60

The following section describes the valuation methodologies the Company uses to measure financial instruments at fair value:

Money Market Funds — The Company’s investment in money market funds that are classified as cash equivalents hold underlying investments with a
weighted average maturity of 90 days or less and are recognized at fair value. The valuations of these securities are based on quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets, when available, or pricing models whereby all significant inputs are observable or can be derived from or corroborated by observable
market data. The Company reviews security pricing and assesses liquidity on a quarterly basis. As of May 3, 2019, the Company’s U.S. portfolio had no
material exposure to money market funds with a fluctuating net asset value.

Equity and Other Securities — The Company’s investments in equity and other securities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist primarily
of strategic investments in publicly-traded companies. The valuation of these securities is based on quoted prices in active markets.

Derivative Instruments — The Company’s derivative financial instruments consist primarily of foreign currency forward and purchased option contracts and
interest rate swaps. The fair value of the portfolio is determined using valuation models based on market observable inputs, including interest rate curves,
forward and spot prices for currencies, and implied volatilities. Credit risk is also factored into the fair value calculation of the Company’s derivative
instrument portfolio. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Company’s derivative financial
instrument activities.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis — Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and therefore are
not included in the recurring fair value table above. These assets consist primarily of non-financial assets such as goodwill and intangible assets. See Note 8
of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about goodwill and intangible assets.

As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the Company held private strategic investments of $735 million and $671 million, respectively. As these
investments represent early-stage companies without readily determinable fair values, they are not included in the recurring fair value table above.
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The Company has elected to apply the measurement alternative for these investments. Under the alternative, the Company measures investments without
readily determinable fair values at cost, less impairment, adjusted by observable price changes. The Company must make a separate election to use the
alternative for each eligible investment and is required to reassess at each reporting period whether an investment qualifies for the alternative. In evaluating
these investments for impairment or observable price changes, the Company uses inputs including pre- and post-money valuations of recent financing events
and the impact of those on its fully diluted ownership percentages, as well as other available information regarding the issuer’s historical and forecasted
performance.

Carrying Value and Estimated Fair Value of Outstanding Debt — The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value of the Company’s
outstanding debt as described in Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, including the current portion, as of the dates
indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 Carrying Value  Fair Value  Carrying Value  Fair Value
 (in billions)
Senior Secured Credit Facilities $ 10.8  $ 10.9  $ 12.5  $ 12.6
First Lien Notes $ 20.5  $ 22.3  $ 19.8  $ 21.0
Unsecured Notes and Debentures $ 1.8  $ 2.0  $ 1.8  $ 1.9
Senior Notes $ 3.1  $ 3.4  $ 3.1  $ 3.4
EMC Notes $ 3.0  $ 3.0  $ 3.0  $ 2.9
VMware Notes $ 4.0  $ 3.9  $ 4.0  $ 3.9
Margin Loan Facility $ 4.0  $ 4.0  $ 3.3  $ 3.4

The fair values of the outstanding debt shown in the table above, as well as the DFS debt described in Note 4 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements, were determined based on observable market prices in a less active market or based on valuation methodologies using observable inputs
and were categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value of DFS debt approximates fair value.

Investments

The following table presents the carrying value and amortized cost of the Company’s strategic investments in publicly-traded and privately-held companies as
of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019

 Cost  
Unrealized

Gain  
Unrealized

(Loss)  
Carrying

Value  Cost  
Unrealized

Gain  
Unrealized

(Loss)  
Carrying

Value

 (in millions)

Equity and other securities $ 756  $ 44  $ (18)  $ 782  $ 638  $ 539  $ (172)  $ 1,005

For the three months ended May 3, 2019, the equity and other securities without readily determinable fair values increased by $44 million due to upward
adjustments for observable price changes, offset by $8 million of downward adjustments that were primarily attributable to impairments. The remainder of
equity and other securities consists of publicly-traded investments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

18



Table of Contents
DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

NOTE 4 — FINANCIAL SERVICES

The Company offers or arranges various financing options and services, and alternative payment structures for its customers in North America, Europe,
Australia, and New Zealand through DFS and its affiliates. The Company also arranges financing for some of its customers in various countries where DFS
does not currently operate as a captive enterprise. The key activities of DFS include originating, collecting, and servicing of customer financing arrangements
primarily related to the purchase or usage of Dell Technologies products and services. In some cases, DFS also offers financing on the purchase of third-party
technology products that complement the Dell Technologies portfolio of products and services. New financing originations were $1.7 billion for both the
three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018.

The Company’s lease and loan arrangements with customers are aggregated into the following categories:

• Revolving loans — Revolving loans offered under private label credit financing programs provide qualified customers with a revolving credit line for the
purchase of products and services offered by Dell Technologies. These private label credit financing programs are referred to as Dell Preferred Account
(“DPA”) and Dell Business Credit (“DBC”). The DPA product is primarily offered to individual consumer customers, and the DBC product is primarily
offered to small and medium-sized commercial customers. Revolving loans in the United States bear interest at a variable annual percentage rate that is
tied to the prime rate. Based on historical payment patterns, revolving loan transactions are typically repaid within twelve months on average. Due to the
short-term nature of the revolving loan portfolio, the carrying value of the portfolio approximates fair value.

• Fixed-term leases and loans — The Company enters into financing arrangements with customers who seek lease financing for equipment they might
otherwise purchase. Under the new lease standard discussed in Note 1 and Note 2 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, new
DFS leases are classified as sales-type leases, direct financing leases, or operating leases. When the terms of the DFS lease transfer control of the
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is typically classified as a sales-type lease. Direct financing leases under the new lease standard are immaterial.
All other new DFS leases are classified as operating leases. Leases that commenced prior to the adoption of the new lease standard were not reassessed or
restated pursuant to the practical expedients elected and will continue to be accounted for under previous lease accounting guidance. Leases with business
customers have fixed terms of generally two to four years.

The Company also offers fixed-term loans to qualified small businesses, large commercial accounts, governmental organizations, educational entities,
and certain individual consumer customers. These loans are repaid in equal payments including interest and have defined terms of generally three to five
years. The fair value of the fixed-term loan portfolio is determined using market observable inputs.  The carrying value of these loans approximates fair
value. 
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Financing Receivables

The following table presents the components of the Company’s financing receivables segregated by portfolio segment as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 Revolving  Fixed-term  Total  Revolving  Fixed-term  Total

 (in millions)
Financing receivables, net:            
Customer receivables, gross (a) $ 790  $ 7,100  $ 7,890  $ 835  $ 7,249  $ 8,084
Allowances for losses (70)  (73)  (143)  (75)  (61)  (136)

Customer receivables, net 720  7,027  7,747  760  7,188  7,948
Residual interest —  661  661  —  674  674

Financing receivables, net $ 720  $ 7,688  $ 8,408  $ 760  $ 7,862  $ 8,622

Short-term $ 720  $ 3,557  $ 4,277  $ 760  $ 3,638  $ 4,398
Long-term $ —  $ 4,131  $ 4,131  $ —  $ 4,224  $ 4,224

____________________
(a) Customer receivables, gross includes amounts due from customers under revolving loans, fixed-term loans, fixed-term sales-type or direct financing

leases, and accrued interest.

The following table presents the changes in allowance for financing receivable losses for the periods indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
 Revolving  Fixed-term  Total  Revolving  Fixed-term  Total
 (in millions)
Allowance for financing receivable losses:            
Balances at beginning of period $ 75  $ 61  $ 136  $ 81  $ 64  $ 145

Charge-offs, net of recoveries (20)  (3)  (23)  (20)  (5)  (25)
Provision charged to income statement 15  15  30  16  3  19

Balances at end of period $ 70  $ 73  $ 143  $ 77  $ 62  $ 139
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Aging

The following table presents the aging of the Company’s customer financing receivables, gross, including accrued interest, segregated by class, as of the dates
indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019

 Current  
Past Due

1 — 90 Days  
Past Due
>90 Days  Total  Current  

Past Due
1 — 90 Days  

Past Due
>90 Days  Total

 (in millions)
Revolving — DPA $ 553  $ 43  $ 19  $ 615  $ 583  $ 53  $ 21  $ 657
Revolving — DBC 153  19  3  175  155  19  4  178
Fixed-term — Consumer and
Commercial 6,160  832  108  7,100  6,282  878  89  7,249

Total customer receivables,
gross $ 6,866  $ 894  $ 130  $ 7,890  $ 7,020  $ 950  $ 114  $ 8,084

Aging is likely to fluctuate year to year as a result of the variability in volume of large transactions entered into over the period, and the administrative
processes that accompany those larger transactions. As such, fluctuations in aging do not necessarily indicate a material change in the credit quality of the
portfolio.

Credit Quality

The following table presents customer receivables, gross, including accrued interest, by credit quality indicator segregated by class, as of the dates indicated.
The categories shown in the table below segregate customer receivables based on the relative degrees of credit risk. The credit quality indicators for DPA
revolving accounts are measured primarily as of each quarter-end date, while all other indicators are generally updated on a periodic basis.

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 Higher  Mid  Lower  Total  Higher  Mid  Lower  Total

 (in millions)
Revolving — DPA $ 121  $ 180  $ 314  $ 615  $ 128  $ 192  $ 337  $ 657
Revolving — DBC $ 45  $ 53  $ 77  $ 175  $ 47  $ 54  $ 77  $ 178
Fixed-term — Consumer and
Commercial $ 3,916  $ 1,928  $ 1,256  $ 7,100  $ 3,980  $ 1,984  $ 1,285  $ 7,249

For DPA revolving receivables shown in the table above, the Company makes credit decisions based on proprietary scorecards, which include the customer’s
credit history, payment history, credit usage, and other credit agency-related elements. The higher quality category includes prime accounts generally of a
higher credit quality that are comparable to U.S. customer FICO scores of 720 or above. The mid-category represents the mid-tier accounts that are
comparable to U.S. customer FICO scores from 660 to 719. The lower category is generally sub-prime and represents lower credit quality accounts that are
comparable to U.S. customer FICO scores below 660. For the DBC revolving receivables and fixed-term commercial receivables shown in the table above, an
internal grading system is utilized that assigns a credit level score based on a number of considerations, including liquidity, operating performance, and
industry outlook. The grading criteria and classifications for the fixed-term products differ from those for the revolving products as loss experience varies
between these product and customer groups. The credit quality categories cannot be compared between the different classes as loss experience varies
substantially between the classes.
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Leases

Interest income on sales-type lease receivables was $64 million for the three months ended May 3, 2019.

The following table presents the net revenue, cost of net revenue, and gross margin recognized at the commencement date of sales-type leases for the period
indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019
 (in millions)
Net revenue — products $ 130
Cost of net revenue — products 81

Gross margin — products $ 49

The following table presents the future maturity of the Company’s fixed-term customer leases and associated financing payments, and reconciles the
undiscounted cash flows to the customer receivables, gross recognized on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of May 3, 2019:

Fiscal Years (in millions)
Fiscal 2020 (remaining nine months) $ 2,038
Fiscal 2021 1,890
Fiscal 2022 1,086
Fiscal 2023 390
Fiscal 2024 and beyond 129

Total undiscounted cash flows 5,533
Fixed-term loans 2,045
Revolving loans 790
Less: unearned income (478)

Total customer receivables, gross $ 7,890

Disclosure related to periods prior to adoption of the new lease standard — Future maturities of minimum lease and associated financing payments as
of February 1, 2019 were as follows: $2.6 billion in Fiscal 2020; $1.7 billion in Fiscal 2021; $0.9 billion in Fiscal 2022; $0.3 billion in Fiscal 2023; and $0.1
billion in Fiscal 2024 and beyond. Future maturities and associated financing payments referenced herein represent the aggregate payments under the
customer lease contract. 
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Operating Leases

The following table presents the components of the Company’s operating lease portfolio included in Property, plant, and equipment, net as of the date
indicated:

 May 3, 2019
 (in millions)
Equipment under operating lease, gross $ 282
Less: accumulated depreciation 8

Equipment under operating lease, net $ 274

As of February 1, 2019, the Company’s equipment under operating lease, net was $3 million.

Operating lease income relating to lease payments was $4 million for the three months ended May 3, 2019. Depreciation expense was $3 million for the three
months ended May 3, 2019.

The following table presents the future payments to be received by the Company as lessor in operating lease contracts as of May 3, 2019:

Fiscal Years (in millions)
Fiscal 2020 (remaining nine months) $ 90
Fiscal 2021 92
Fiscal 2022 79
Fiscal 2023 22
Fiscal 2024 and beyond 1

Total $ 284
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DFS Debt

The Company maintains programs that facilitate the funding of leases, loans, and other alternative payment structures in the capital markets. The following
table presents DFS debt as of the dates indicated. The table excludes the allocated portion of the Company’s other borrowings, which represents the additional
amount considered to fund the DFS business.

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)
DFS U.S. debt:    

Securitization facilities $ 1,692  $ 1,914
Fixed-term securitization offerings 2,836  2,303
Other 201  223

Total DFS U.S. debt 4,729  4,440
DFS international debt:    

Securitization facility 646  584
Other borrowings 766  708
Note payable 202  197

Total DFS international debt 1,614  1,489

Total DFS debt $ 6,343  $ 5,929

Total short-term DFS debt $ 3,952  $ 3,113
Total long-term DFS debt $ 2,391  $ 2,816

DFS U.S. Debt

Securitization Facilities — The Company maintains separate securitization facilities in the United States for fixed-term leases and loans and for revolving
loans. This debt is collateralized solely by the U.S. loan and lease payments and associated equipment in the facilities. The debt has a variable interest rate
and the duration of the debt is based on the terms of the underlying loan and lease payment streams. As of May 3, 2019, the total debt capacity related to the
U.S. securitization facilities was $3.5 billion. The Company enters into interest swap agreements to effectively convert a portion of its securitization debt
from a floating rate to a fixed rate. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about interest rate
swaps.

The Company’s U.S. securitization facility for revolving loans is effective through June 1, 2020. The Company’s two U.S. securitization facilities for fixed-
term leases and loans are effective through February 10, 2020 and February 22, 2020, respectively.

The securitization facilities contain standard structural features related to the performance of the securitized receivables, which include defined credit losses,
delinquencies, average credit scores, and minimum collection requirements. In the event one or more of these criteria are not met and the Company is unable
to restructure the facility, no further funding of receivables will be permitted and the timing of the Company’s expected cash flows from over-collateralization
will be delayed. As of May 3, 2019, these criteria were met.

Fixed-Term Securitization Offerings — The Company periodically issues asset-backed debt securities under fixed-term securitization programs to private
investors. The asset-backed debt securities are collateralized solely by the U.S. fixed-term leases and loans in the offerings, which are held by Special Purpose
Entities (“SPEs”), as discussed below. The interest rate on these securities is fixed and ranges from 1.97% to 3.97% per annum, and the duration of these
securities is based on the terms of the underlying lease and loan payment streams.
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DFS International Debt

Securitization Facility — The Company maintains a securitization facility in Europe for fixed-term leases and loans. This facility is effective through
December 21, 2020 and has a total debt capacity of $894 million as of May 3, 2019.

The securitization facility contains standard structural features related to the performance of the securitized receivables which include defined credit losses,
delinquencies, average credit scores, and minimum collection requirements. In the event one or more of these criteria are not met and the Company is unable
to restructure the program, no further funding of receivables will be permitted and the timing of the Company’s expected cash flows from over-
collateralization will be delayed. As of May 3, 2019, these criteria were met.

Other Borrowings — In connection with the Company’s international financing operations, the Company has entered into revolving structured financing debt
programs related to its fixed-term lease and loan products sold in Canada, Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. The Canadian facility, which is collateralized
solely by Canadian loan and lease payments and associated equipment, had a total debt capacity of $223 million as of May 3, 2019, and is effective through
January 16, 2023. The European facility, which is collateralized solely by European loan and lease payments and associated equipment, had a total debt
capacity of $670 million as of May 3, 2019, and is effective through December 14, 2020. The Australia and New Zealand facility, which is collateralized
solely by Australia and New Zealand loan and lease payments and associated equipment, had a total debt capacity of $196 million as of May 3, 2019, and is
effective through January 29, 2020.

Note Payable — On November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an unsecured credit agreement to fund receivables in Mexico. As of May 3, 2019, the
aggregate principal amount of the note payable is $198 million. The note bears interest at either the applicable London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”)
plus 2.25%, for the borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars, or the Mexican Interbank Equilibrium Interest Rate (“TIIE”) plus 2.00%, for the borrowings
denominated in Mexican pesos. The note will mature on December 1, 2020. Although the note is unsecured, the Company intends to manage the note in the
same manner as its structured financing programs, so that the collections from loan and lease payments and associated equipment in Mexico will be used to
pay down principal and interest of the note.

Variable Interest Entities

In connection with the securitization facilities and offerings discussed above, the Company transfers certain U.S. and European loan and lease payments and
associated equipment to SPEs that meet the definition of a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) and are consolidated, along with the associated debt detailed
above, into the Consolidated Financial Statements, as the Company is the primary beneficiary of those VIEs. The SPEs are bankruptcy-remote legal entities
with separate assets and liabilities. The purpose of the SPEs is to facilitate the funding of loan and lease payments and associated equipment in the capital
markets.

The following table presents financing receivables and equipment under operating leases, net held by the consolidated VIEs as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)

Assets held by consolidated VIEs, net:    
Short-term, net $ 2,998  $ 2,940
Long-term, net 2,768  2,508

Assets held by consolidated VIEs, net $ 5,766  $ 5,448

Loan and lease payments and associated equipment transferred via securitization through SPEs were $1.5 billion and $1.3 billion for the three months ended
May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018, respectively.
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Some of the SPEs have entered into financing arrangements with multi-seller conduits that, in turn, issue asset-backed debt securities in the capital markets.
The DFS debt outstanding, which is collateralized by the loan and lease payments and associated equipment held by the consolidated VIEs, was $5.2 billion
and $4.8 billion as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, respectively. The Company’s risk of loss related to securitized receivables is limited to the amount
by which the Company’s right to receive collections for assets securitized exceeds the amount required to pay interest, principal, and fees and expenses
related to the asset-backed securities. The Company provides credit enhancement to the securitization in the form of over-collateralization.

Customer Receivable Sales

To manage certain concentrations of customer credit exposure, the Company may sell selected fixed-term customer receivables to unrelated third parties on a
periodic basis. The amount of customer receivables sold was $101 million for both the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018.
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NOTE 5 — LEASES

The Company enters into leasing transactions in which the Company is lessee. These lease contracts are typically classified as operating leases. The
Company’s lease contracts are generally for office buildings used to conduct our business, and the determination of whether such contracts contain leases
generally does not require significant estimates or judgments. The Company also leases certain global logistic warehouses, employee vehicles, and
equipment. As of May 3, 2019, the remaining terms of the Company’s leases range from one year to 27 years.

The Company also enters into leasing transactions in which the Company is lessor, primarily through customer financing arrangements offered through DFS.
DFS originates leases that are primarily classified as either sales-type leases or operating leases. See Note 4 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information on the DFS lease portfolio and related lease disclosures.

In adopting the new lease standard discussed in Note 1 and Note 2 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company elected to
apply a transition method that does not require the retrospective application to periods prior to adoption. Financial information associated with the Company’s
leases in which the Company is lessee contained in this footnote are presented as of and for the three months ended May 3, 2019.

The following table presents components of lease costs included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the period presented:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019
 (in millions)
Operating lease costs $ 117
Variable costs 38

Total lease costs $ 155

During the three months ended May 3, 2019, sublease income, finance lease costs, and short-term lease costs were immaterial.

The following table presents supplemental information related to operating leases included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as
of the date presented:

 Classification  May 3, 2019

   
(in millions, except for term

and discount rate)
Operating lease ROU assets Other non-current assets  $ 1,527
    

Current operating lease liabilities Accrued and other current liabilities  $ 416
Non-current operating lease liabilities Other non-current liabilities  1,138

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 1,554

    

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)   9.2
Weighted-average discount rate   4.1%
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The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the period presented:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019
 (in millions)
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities - 
operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 122
  

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 42

The following table presents the future maturity of the Company’s operating lease liabilities under non-cancelable leases and reconciles the undiscounted cash
flows for these leases to the lease liability recognized on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of May 3, 2019:

Fiscal Years (in millions)
Fiscal 2020 (remaining nine months) $ 305
Fiscal 2021 365
Fiscal 2022 271
Fiscal 2023 195
Fiscal 2024 125
Thereafter 656

Total lease payments $ 1,917
Less: Imputed interest (363)

Total $ 1,554

Current operating lease liabilities $ 416
Non-current operating lease liabilities $ 1,138

The amount of future lease commitments after Fiscal 2024 is primarily for the ground lease on VMware, Inc.’s Palo Alto, California headquarter facilities,
which expires in Fiscal 2047.

As of May 3, 2019, the Company has additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $237 million. These operating leases will commence during
Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2021 with lease terms of one year to 10 years.

Disclosure related to periods prior to adoption of the new lease standard

As of February 1, 2019, the Company had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable leases prior to the adoption of the new lease
standard:

Fiscal Years (in millions)
Fiscal 2020 $ 371
Fiscal 2021 314
Fiscal 2022 240
Fiscal 2023 175
Fiscal 2024 113
Thereafter 643

Total $ 1,856
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NOTE 6 — DEBT

The following table presents the Company’s outstanding debt as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)
Secured Debt    

Senior Secured Credit Facilities:    
4.49% Term Loan B Facility due September 2023 $ 4,925  $ 4,938
4.24% Term Loan A-2 Facility due September 2021 727  4,116
4.24% Term Loan A-4 Facility due December 2023 1,629  1,650
4.25% Term Loan A-5 Facility due December 2019 —  2,016
4.23% Term Loan A-6 Facility due March 2024 3,634  —

First Lien Notes:    
3.48% due June 2019 —  3,750
4.42% due June 2021 4,500  4,500
5.45% due June 2023 3,750  3,750
4.00% due July 2024 1,000  —
6.02% due June 2026 4,500  4,500
4.90% due October 2026 1,750  —
5.30% due October 2029 1,750  —
8.10% due July 2036 1,500  1,500
8.35% due July 2046 2,000  2,000

Unsecured Debt    
Unsecured Notes and Debentures:    

5.875% due June 2019 600  600
4.625% due April 2021 400  400
7.10% due April 2028 300  300
6.50% due April 2038 388  388
5.40% due September 2040 264  264

Senior Notes:    
5.875% due June 2021 1,625  1,625
7.125% due June 2024 1,625  1,625

EMC Notes:    
2.650% due June 2020 2,000  2,000
3.375% due June 2023 1,000  1,000

VMware Notes:    
2.30% due August 2020 1,250  1,250
2.95% due August 2022 1,500  1,500
3.90% due August 2027 1,250  1,250

DFS Debt (Note 4) 6,343  5,929
Other    

4.83% Margin Loan Facility due April 2022 4,000  3,350
Other 27  38

Total debt, principal amount $ 54,237  $ 54,239
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 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)
Total debt, principal amount $ 54,237  $ 54,239

Unamortized discount, net of unamortized premium (268)  (271)
Debt issuance costs (445)  (447)

Total debt, carrying value $ 53,524  $ 53,521

Total short-term debt, carrying value $ 4,884  $ 4,320
Total long-term debt, carrying value $ 48,640  $ 49,201

On March 7, 2019, the Company amended the Margin Loan Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount of borrowings under the Margin Loan
Facility by $650 million.

On March 13, 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to the credit agreement for the Senior Secured Credit Facilities to obtain a new senior secured
Term Loan A-6 Facility in order to refinance the $5 billion aggregate principal amount of debt incurred in connection with the Class V transaction described
in Note 14 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The Term Loan A-6 Facility aggregate principal amount of $3,634 million
matures on March 13, 2024, of which $2,839 million aggregate principal amount represents the amounts outstanding under the Term Loan A-2 Facility that
rolled-over into the new facility. Immediately after the rollover, an aggregate principal amount of $1,277 million remained outstanding under the Term Loan
A-2 Facility. The Term Loan A-6 Facility amortizes quarterly and bears interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin
ranging from 1.25% to 2.00% or a base rate plus an applicable margin of 0.25% to 1.00%.

On March 20, 2019, Dell International L.L.C. and EMC Corporation, both which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Dell Technologies Inc., completed a
private offering of multiple series of First Lien Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $4.5 billion. The principal amount, interest rate, and maturity of
each series of such First Lien Notes were as follows:

• $1,000 million 4.00% First Lien Notes due July 15, 2024
• $1,750 million 4.90% First Lien Notes due October 1, 2026
• $1,750 million 5.30% First Lien Notes due October 1, 2029

A majority of the proceeds from the First Lien Notes issued on March 20, 2019 was used to repay all of the outstanding $3,750 million First Lien Notes due
June 2019. In addition, proceeds of approximately $800 million of borrowings under the new Term Loan A-6 Facility, the proceeds of the $650 million
increase in the Margin Loan Facility, and a portion of the proceeds from the 2019 First Lien Notes were used to repay all of the Company’s outstanding
amounts under the Term Loan A-5 Facility due December 2019. The remaining proceeds available from the 2019 First Lien Notes were used to repay
outstanding amounts under the Term Loan A-2 Facility and to pay related premiums, accrued interest, fees, and expenses.

The refinancing and amendments were evaluated in accordance with FASB ASC 470, “Debt-Modifications and Extinguishments.” The amendment to the
Margin Loan Agreement and the term debt refinancing were accounted for as modifications for all existing lenders and as new issuances for new lenders. The
First Lien Notes issued on March 20, 2019, were accounted for as new issuances for all lenders, and repayment of the Company’s outstanding amounts under
the Term Loan A-5 Facility was accounted for as an extinguishment. During the three months ended May 3, 2019, the Company capitalized $74.5 million in
new fees paid to creditors as a result of the modifications and new issuances. In addition, the Company recognized expenses of $32.3 million in unamortized
costs and $7.1 million in new third-party costs during the three months ended May 3, 2019.

During the three months ended May 3, 2019, the Company also repaid $400 million of its Term Loan A-2 Facility and approximately $33 million of principal
amortization under its term loan facilities.

The Company issued an additional $0.4 billion, net, in DFS debt to support the expansion of its financing receivables portfolio during the three months ended
May 3, 2019.
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Secured Debt

Senior Secured Credit Facilities — The Company has entered into a credit agreement that provides for senior secured credit facilities (the “Senior Secured
Credit Facilities”) comprising (a) term loan facilities and (b) a senior secured Revolving Credit Facility, which includes capacity for up to $0.5 billion of
letters of credit and for borrowings of up to $0.4 billion under swing-line loans.

As of May 3, 2019, available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility totaled $4.5 billion. The Senior Secured Credit Facilities provide that the
borrowers have the right at any time, subject to customary conditions, to request incremental term loans or incremental revolving commitments.

Borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin, plus, at the borrowers’ option, either (a)
a base rate, which, under the Term Loan B Facility, is subject to an interest rate floor of 1.75% per annum, and under all other borrowings is subject to an
interest rate floor of 0% per annum, or (b) LIBOR, which, under the Term Loan B Facility, is subject to an interest rate floor of 0.75% per annum, and under
all other borrowings is subject to an interest rate floor of 0% per annum. Interest is payable, in the case of loans bearing interest based on LIBOR, at the end
of each interest period (but at least every three months), in arrears and, in the case of loans bearing interest based on the base rate, quarterly in arrears.

The Term Loan B Facility amortizes in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1% of the original principal amount. The Term Loan
A-2 Facility amortizes in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 5% of the original principal amount in the first year after the
closing date of the refinancing transaction on October 20, 2017, 10% of the original principal amount in each of the second and third years after October 20,
2017, and 75% of the original principal amount in the fourth year after October 20, 2017. The Term Loan A-4 Facility amortizes in equal quarterly
installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 5% of the original principal amount in each of the first four years after the facility closing date of
December 20, 2018, and 80% of the original principal amount in the fifth year after December 20, 2018. The Revolving Credit Facility has no amortization.

The borrowers may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the term loan facilities and the Revolving Credit Facility at any time without premium or
penalty, other than customary “breakage” costs.

All obligations of the borrowers under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and certain swap agreements, cash management arrangements, and certain letters
of credit provided by any lender or agent party to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities or any of its affiliates and certain other persons are secured by (a) a
first-priority security interest in certain tangible and intangible assets of the borrowers and the guarantors and (b) a first-priority pledge of 100% of the capital
stock of the borrowers, Dell Inc., a wholly‑owned subsidiary of the Company (“Dell”), and each wholly-owned material restricted subsidiary of the borrowers
and the guarantors, in each case subject to certain thresholds, exceptions, and permitted liens.

First Lien Notes — The senior secured notes (collectively, the “First Lien Notes”) were issued on June 1, 2016 and March 20, 2019 in an aggregate principal
amount of $20.0 billion and $4.5 billion, respectively. As stated above, the Company used a portion of the $4.5 billion proceeds to repay all of the outstanding
$3,750 million First Lien Notes due June 2019. Interest on these borrowings is payable semiannually. The First Lien Notes are secured, on a pari passu basis
with the Senior Secured Credit Facilities, on a first-priority basis by substantially all of the tangible and intangible assets of the issuers and guarantors that
secure obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities, including pledges of all capital stock of the issuers, Dell, and certain wholly-owned material
subsidiaries of the issuers and the guarantors, subject to certain exceptions.

The Company has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to register with the SEC notes having terms substantially identical to the terms of the First
Lien Notes as part of an offer to exchange such registered notes for the First Lien Notes. The Company will be obligated to pay additional interest on the First
Lien Notes if it fails to consummate such an exchange offer within five years after the closing date of the EMC merger transaction.

China Revolving Credit Facility — During the three months ended May 3, 2019, the Company renewed its credit agreement (the “China Revolving Credit
Facility”) with a bank lender for a secured revolving loan facility in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $500 million at an interest rate of LIBOR
plus 0.6% per annum. The facility will expire on February 26, 2020. As of May 3, 2019, there were no outstanding borrowings under the China Revolving
Credit Facility.
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Unsecured Debt

Unsecured Notes and Debentures — The Company has outstanding unsecured notes and debentures (collectively, the “Unsecured Notes and Debentures”)
that were issued by Dell prior to the acquisition of Dell by Dell Technologies Inc. in the going-private transaction that closed in October 2013. Interest on
these borrowings is payable semiannually.

Senior Notes — The senior unsecured notes (collectively, the “Senior Notes”) were issued on June 22, 2016 in an aggregate principal amount of $3.25 billion.
Interest on these borrowings is payable semiannually.

EMC Notes — On September 7, 2016, EMC had outstanding $2.5 billion aggregate principal amount of its 1.875% Notes due June 2018, which the Company
fully repaid during the three months ended August 3, 2018, $2.0 billion aggregate principal amount of its 2.650% Notes due June 2020, and $1.0 billion
aggregate principal amount of its 3.375% Notes due June 2023 (collectively, the “EMC Notes”). Interest on these borrowings is payable semiannually.

VMware Notes — On August 21, 2017, VMware, Inc. completed a public offering of unsecured senior notes in the aggregate amount of $4.0 billion,
consisting of outstanding principal due on the following dates: $1.25 billion due August 21, 2020, $1.5 billion due August 21, 2022, and $1.25 billion due
August 21, 2027 (collectively, the “VMware Notes”). The VMware Notes bear interest, payable semiannually, at annual rates of 2.30%, 2.95%, and 3.90%,
respectively. None of the net proceeds of such borrowings will be made available to support the operations or satisfy any corporate purposes of Dell
Technologies, other than the operations and corporate purposes of VMware, Inc. and VMware, Inc.’s subsidiaries.

VMware Revolving Credit Facility — On September 12, 2017, VMware, Inc. entered into an unsecured credit agreement, establishing a revolving credit
facility (the “VMware Revolving Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of lenders that provides the company with a borrowing capacity of up to $1.0 billion
which may be used for VMware, Inc. general corporate purposes. Commitments under the VMware Revolving Credit Facility are available for a period of
five years, which may be extended, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, by up to two one year periods. The credit agreement contains certain
representations, warranties, and covenants. Commitment fees, interest rates, and other terms of borrowing under the VMware Revolving Credit Facility may
vary based on VMware, Inc.’s external credit ratings. None of the net proceeds of such borrowings will be made available to support the operations or satisfy
any corporate purposes of Dell Technologies, other than the operations and corporate purposes of VMware, Inc. and VMware, Inc.’s subsidiaries. As of
May 3, 2019, there were no outstanding borrowings under the VMware Revolving Credit Facility.

DFS Debt

See Note 4 and Note 7 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively, for discussion of DFS debt and the interest rate swap
agreements that hedge a portion of that debt.

Other

Margin Loan Facility — On April 12, 2017, the Company entered into the Margin Loan Facility in an aggregate principal amount of $2.0 billion. In
connection with the Class V transaction, on December 20, 2018, the Company amended the Margin Loan Facility to increase the aggregate principal amount
to $3.35 billion. In connection with obtaining the Term Loan A-6 Facility, the Company increased the aggregate principal amount of the facility to $4.0
billion. VMW Holdco LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of EMC, is the borrower under the Margin Loan Facility, which is secured by 60 million shares of
Class B common stock of VMware, Inc. and 20 million shares of Class A common stock of VMware, Inc. Loans under the Margin Loan Facility bear interest
at a rate per annum payable, at the borrower’s option, either at (a) a base rate plus 1.25% per annum or (b) a LIBOR-based rate plus 2.25% per annum.
Interest under the Margin Loan Facility is payable quarterly.

The Margin Loan Facility will mature in April 2022. The borrower may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the Margin Loan Facility at any time
without premium or penalty, other than customary “breakage” costs, subject to certain minimum threshold amounts for prepayment.
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Pivotal Revolving Credit Facility — On September 7, 2017, Pivotal entered into a credit agreement (the “Pivotal Revolving Credit Facility”) that provides for
a senior secured revolving loan facility in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $100 million. The credit facility contains customary representations,
warranties, and covenants, including financial covenants. The credit agreement will expire on September 8, 2020, unless it is terminated earlier. None of the
net proceeds of borrowings under the facility will be made available to support the operations or satisfy any corporate purposes of Dell Technologies, other
than the operations and corporate purposes of Pivotal and Pivotal’s subsidiaries. As of May 3, 2019, there were no outstanding borrowings under the Pivotal
Revolving Credit Facility.

Aggregate Future Maturities

The following table presents the aggregate future maturities of the Company’s debt as of May 3, 2019 for the periods indicated:

 Maturities by Fiscal Year

 

2020
(remaining nine

months)  2021  2022  2023  2024  Thereafter  Total

 (in millions)
Senior Secured Credit Facilities and First Lien
Notes $ 248  $ 236  $ 5,542  $ 393  $ 12,033  $ 13,213  $ 31,665

Unsecured Notes and Debentures 600  —  400  —  —  952  1,952

Senior Notes and EMC Notes —  2,000  1,625  —  1,000  1,625  6,250

VMware Notes —  1,250  —  1,500  —  1,250  4,000

DFS Debt 3,124  2,402  594  187  36  —  6,343

Margin Loan Facility —  —  —  4,000  —  —  4,000

Other 16  11  —  —  —  —  27

Total maturities, principal amount 3,988  5,899  8,161  6,080  13,069  17,040  54,237

Associated carrying value adjustments —  (6)  (93)  (30)  (153)  (431)  (713)

Total maturities, carrying value amount $ 3,988  $ 5,893  $ 8,068  $ 6,050  $ 12,916  $ 16,609  $ 53,524

Covenants and Unrestricted Net Assets — The credit agreement for the Senior Secured Credit Facilities contains customary negative covenants that generally
limit the ability of Denali Intermediate Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Dell Technologies (“Dell Intermediate”), Dell, and Dell’s and Denali
Intermediate’s other restricted subsidiaries to incur debt, create liens, make fundamental changes, enter into asset sales, make certain investments, pay
dividends or distribute or redeem certain equity interests, prepay or redeem certain debt, and enter into certain transactions with affiliates. The indenture
governing the Senior Notes contains customary negative covenants that generally limit the ability of Denali Intermediate, Dell, and Dell’s and Denali
Intermediate’s other restricted subsidiaries to incur additional debt or issue certain preferred shares, pay dividends on or make other distributions in respect of
capital stock or make other restricted payments, make certain investments, sell or transfer certain assets, create liens on certain assets to secure debt,
consolidate, merge, sell, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all assets, enter into certain transactions with affiliates, and designate subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries.

The negative covenants under such credit agreements and indenture are subject to certain exceptions, qualifications, and “baskets.” The indentures governing
the First Lien Notes, the Unsecured Notes and Debentures, and the EMC Notes variously impose limitations, subject to specified exceptions, on creating
certain liens, entering into sale and lease-back transactions, and entering into certain asset sales. The foregoing credit agreements and indentures contain
customary events of default, including failure to make required payments, failure to comply with covenants, and the occurrence of certain events of
bankruptcy and insolvency.

As of May 3, 2019, the Company had certain consolidated subsidiaries that were designated as unrestricted subsidiaries for all purposes of the applicable
credit agreements and the indentures governing the First Lien Notes and the Senior Notes. Substantially all of the net assets of the Company’s consolidated
subsidiaries were restricted, with the exception of the Company’s unrestricted subsidiaries, primarily VMware Inc., Secureworks, Pivotal, and their respective
subsidiaries, as of May 3, 2019.

33



Table of Contents
DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

The Term Loan A-2 Facility, the Term Loan A-4 Facility, the Term Loan A-6 Facility, and the Revolving Credit Facility are subject to a first lien leverage
ratio covenant that is tested at the end of each fiscal quarter of Dell with respect to Dell’s preceding four fiscal quarters. The Company was in compliance
with all financial covenants as of May 3, 2019.
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NOTE 7 — DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

As part of its risk management strategy, the Company uses derivative instruments, primarily foreign currency forward and option contracts and interest rate
swaps, to hedge certain foreign currency and interest rate exposures, respectively.

The Company’s objective is to offset gains and losses resulting from these exposures with gains and losses on the derivative contracts used to hedge the
exposures, thereby reducing volatility of earnings and protecting the fair values of assets and liabilities. The earnings effects of the derivative instruments are
presented in the same income statement line items as the earnings effects of the hedged items. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the Company
assesses hedge effectiveness both at the onset of the hedge and at regular intervals throughout the life of the derivative. The Company does not have any
derivatives designated as fair value hedges.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company uses foreign currency forward and option contracts designated as cash flow hedges to protect against the foreign currency exchange rate risks
inherent in its forecasted transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Hedge accounting is applied based upon the criteria established by
accounting guidance for derivative instruments and hedging activities. The risk of loss associated with purchased options is limited to premium amounts paid
for the option contracts. The risk of loss associated with forward contracts is equal to the exchange rate differential from the time the contract is entered into
until the time it is settled. The majority of these contracts typically expire in twelve months or less.

During the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018, the Company did not discontinue any cash flow hedges related to foreign exchange contracts
that had a material impact on the Company’s results of operations due to the probability that the forecasted cash flows would not occur.

The Company uses forward contracts to hedge monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency. These contracts generally expire in three
months or less, are considered economic hedges, and are not designated for hedge accounting. The change in the fair value of these instruments represents a
natural hedge as their gains and losses offset the changes in the underlying fair value of the monetary assets and liabilities due to movements in currency
exchange rates.

In connection with expanded offerings of DFS in Europe, forward contracts are used to hedge financing receivables denominated in foreign currencies. These
contracts are not designated for hedge accounting and most expire within three years or less.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge the variability in cash flows related to the interest rate payments on structured financing debt. The interest rate
swaps economically convert the variable rate on the structured financing debt to a fixed interest rate to match the underlying fixed rate being received on
fixed-term customer leases and loans. These contracts are not designated for hedge accounting and most expire within three years or less.

Interest rate swaps are utilized to manage the interest rate risk, at a portfolio level, associated with DFS operations in Europe. The interest rate swaps
economically convert the fixed rate on financing receivables to a three-month Euribor floating rate basis in order to match the floating rate nature of the
banks’ funding pool. These contracts are not designated for hedge accounting and most expire within five years or less.

The Company utilizes cross currency amortizing swaps to hedge the currency and interest rate risk exposure associated with the securitization program that
was established in Europe in January 2017.  The cross currency swaps combine a Euro-based interest rate swap with a British Pound or U.S. Dollar foreign
exchange forward contract in which the Company pays a fixed British Pound or U.S. Dollar amount and receives a floating amount in Euros linked to the
one-month Euribor.  The notional value of the swaps amortizes in line with the expected cash flows and run-off of the securitized assets.  The swaps are not
designated for hedge accounting and expire within five years or less.
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Derivative Instruments

Notional Amounts of Outstanding Derivative Instruments

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:    
Designated as cash flow hedging instruments $ 7,915  $ 7,573
Non-designated as hedging instruments 5,894  6,129

Total $ 13,809  $ 13,702

Interest rate contracts:    
Non-designated as hedging instruments $ 2,582  $ 2,674

Effect of Derivative Instruments Designated as Hedging Instruments on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging
Relationships  

Gain (Loss) Recognized in
Accumulated OCI, Net of Tax, on

Derivatives  
Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into Income  
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into Income

  (in millions)    (in millions)

For the three months ended May 3, 2019
    Total net revenue  $ 58
Foreign exchange contracts  $ 152  Total cost of net revenue  —
Interest rate contracts  —  Interest and other, net  —

Total  $ 152    $ 58

For the three months ended May 4, 2018
    Total net revenue  $ (31)
Foreign exchange contracts  $ 121  Total cost of net revenue  —
Interest rate contracts  —  Interest and other, net  —

Total  $ 121    $ (31)

Effect of Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Hedging Instruments on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)

 Three Months Ended   

 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018  
Location of Gain (Loss)

Recognized
 (in millions)  
Foreign exchange contracts $ (66)  $ (43)  Interest and other, net
Interest rate contracts (7)  2  Interest and other, net

Total $ (73)  $ (41)   
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Fair Value of Derivative Instruments in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

The Company presents its foreign exchange derivative instruments on a net basis in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position due to the
right of offset by its counterparties under master netting arrangements. The following tables present the fair value of those derivative instruments presented on
a gross basis as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019

 

Other
Current
Assets  

Other Non-
Current
Assets  

Other
Current

Liabilities  

Other Non-
Current

Liabilities  
Total

Fair Value
   (in millions)   

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts in an asset position $ 167  $ —  $ 2  $ —  $ 169
Foreign exchange contracts in a liability position (3)  —  (1)  —  (4)

Net asset (liability) 164  —  1  —  165
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:          
Foreign exchange contracts in an asset position 192  —  14  —  206
Foreign exchange contracts in a liability position (190)  —  (26)  (3)  (219)
Interest rate contracts in an asset position —  2  —  —  2
Interest rate contracts in a liability position —  —  —  (14)  (14)

Net asset (liability) 2  2  (12)  (17)  (25)

Total derivatives at fair value $ 166  $ 2  $ (11)  $ (17)  $ 140

          

 February 1, 2019

 

Other
Current
Assets  

Other Non-
Current
Assets  

Other
Current

Liabilities  

Other Non-
Current

Liabilities  
Total

Fair Value
   (in millions)   

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts in an asset position $ 45  $ —  $ 29  $ —  $ 74
Foreign exchange contracts in a liability position (19)  —  (20)  —  (39)

Net asset (liability) 26  —  9  —  35
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts in an asset position 178  —  57  —  235
Foreign exchange contracts in a liability position (110)  —  (115)  (2)  (227)
Interest rate contracts in an asset position —  3  —  —  3
Interest rate contracts in a liability position —  —  —  (9)  (9)

Net asset (liability) 68  3  (58)  (11)  2

Total derivatives at fair value $ 94  $ 3  $ (49)  $ (11)  $ 37
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The following tables present the gross amounts of the Company’s derivative instruments, amounts offset due to master netting agreements with the
Company’s counterparties, and the net amounts recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019

 

Gross Amounts of
Recognized Assets/

(Liabilities)  

Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Statement of

Financial Position  

Net Amounts of
Assets/

(Liabilities)
Presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

 
Gross Amounts not Offset in the
Statement of Financial Position  

Net Amount 
Financial

Instruments  

Cash Collateral
Received or

Pledged  
 (in millions)
Derivative instruments:            
Financial assets $ 377  $ (209)  $ 168  $ —  $ —  $ 168
Financial liabilities (237)  209  (28)  —  6  (22)

Total derivative instruments $ 140  $ —  $ 140  $ —  $ 6  $ 146

            

 February 1, 2019

 

Gross Amounts of
Recognized Assets/

(Liabilities)  

Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Statement of

Financial Position  

Net Amounts of
Assets/

(Liabilities)
Presented in the

Statement of
Financial Position

 
Gross Amounts not Offset in the
Statement of Financial Position  

Net Amount 
Financial

Instruments  

Cash Collateral
Received or

Pledged  
 (in millions)
Derivative instruments:            
Financial assets $ 312  $ (215)  $ 97  $ —  $ —  $ 97
Financial liabilities (275)  215  (60)  —  4  (56)

Total derivative instruments $ 37  $ —  $ 37  $ —  $ 4  $ 41
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NOTE 8 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The following table presents goodwill allocated to the Company’s business segments and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill as of the dates
indicated:

 

Infrastructure
Solutions Group  

Client Solutions
Group  VMware  

Other Businesses
(a)  Total

 (in millions)
Balance as of February 1, 2019 $ 15,199  $ 4,237  $ 16,419  $ 4,234  $ 40,089

Goodwill acquired (b) —  —  33  —  33
Impact of foreign currency translation (89)  —  —  (18)  (107)

Balance as of May 3, 2019 $ 15,110  $ 4,237  $ 16,452  $ 4,216  $ 40,015
____________________
(a) Other Businesses consists of offerings by Pivotal, Secureworks, RSA Security LLC (“RSA Security”), Virtustream Group Holdings, Inc. (“Virtustream”),
and Boomi, Inc. (“Boomi”).
(b) VMware, Inc. completed the acquisition of AetherPal Inc. for a total purchase price of $45 million.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually during the third fiscal quarter and whenever events or circumstances may
indicate that an impairment has occurred. Based on the results of the annual impairment test performed for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019, which was
a quantitative test for all goodwill reporting units, the fair values of each of the reporting units, except for the Virtustream reporting unit, exceeded their
carrying values. Virtustream’s results, which are reported within the Company’s Other Businesses, do not meet the requirements for a reportable segment and
are not material to the Company’s overall results. See Note 18 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional segment
information.

Virtustream delivers an application management cloud platform for enterprise mission-critical workloads in the Infrastructure-as-a-Service market, and had
approximately $0.4 billion in goodwill that was derived from the EMC merger transaction during the fiscal year ended February 3, 2017.  Virtustream
forecasts were revised downward due to a resetting of the longer-term business model that is focused on a streamlined product portfolio.

Based on the results of the annual impairment test performed for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019, it was determined that the carrying value of the
Virtustream reporting unit exceeded its fair value, and, as such, a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $190 million was recognized during the three
months ended November 2, 2018. This expense was classified in selling, general, and administrative in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). The
impairment was reflected as a reduction in goodwill of approximately $190 million in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of February 1,
2019. The remaining Virtustream goodwill was approximately $200 million, inclusive of the impact of foreign currency translation, as of both May 3, 2019
and February 1, 2019. Management continues to monitor the Virtustream goodwill reporting unit and consider potential impacts to the impairment
assessment.

As a result of the annual impairment test, it was determined that the excess of fair value over carrying amount was less than 20% for the RSA Security
reporting unit, which had an excess of fair value over carrying amount of 11% as of November 2, 2018. Management continues to monitor the RSA Security
goodwill reporting unit and consider potential impacts to the impairment assessment.

Additionally, as a result of the Class V transaction described in Note 14 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company
performed an interim impairment analysis during the three months ended February 1, 2019 given the availability of market data for the fair value of the Class
C Common Stock. Other than those disclosed during the Company’s annual goodwill impairment test during the three months ended November 2, 2018, there
were no impairment indicators resulting from the interim impairment analysis. No events or circumstances transpired subsequent to this interim impairment
analysis test that would indicate a potential impairment of goodwill as of May 3, 2019.
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Management exercised significant judgment related to the above assessments, including the identification of goodwill reporting units, assignment of assets
and liabilities to goodwill reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each goodwill reporting unit. The
fair value of each goodwill reporting unit is generally estimated using a combination of public company multiples and discounted cash flow methodologies,
unless the reporting unit relates to a publicly traded entity (VMware, Inc., Pivotal, or Secureworks), in which case the fair value is determined based primarily
on the public company market valuation. The discounted cash flow and public company multiples methodologies require significant judgment, including
estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, current and anticipated economic conditions and trends, selection of market
multiples through assessment of the reporting unit’s performance relative to peer competitors, the estimation of the long-term growth rate of the Company’s
business, and the determination of the Company’s weighted average cost of capital. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the
fair value of the goodwill reporting unit, potentially resulting in a non-cash impairment charge.

Intangible Assets

The following table presents the Company’s intangible assets as of the dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019

 Gross  
Accumulated
Amortization  Net  Gross  

Accumulated
Amortization  Net

 (in millions)
Customer relationships $ 22,755  $ (12,350)  $ 10,405  $ 22,750  $ (11,703)  $ 11,047
Developed technology 15,707  (9,549)  6,158  15,701  (9,036)  6,665
Trade names 1,291  (661)  630  1,291  (606)  685
Leasehold assets (liabilities) —  —  —  128  (10)  118

Definite-lived intangible assets 39,753  (22,560)  17,193  39,870  (21,355)  18,515
Indefinite-lived trade names 3,755  —  3,755  3,755  —  3,755

Total intangible assets $ 43,508  $ (22,560)  $ 20,948  $ 43,625  $ (21,355)  $ 22,270

Amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets was approximately $1.2 billion and $1.5 billion for the three months ended May 3, 2019 and
May 4, 2018, respectively. There were no material impairment charges related to intangible assets during the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4,
2018. Due to the adoption of the new lease standard discussed in Note 1 and Note 2 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Company derecognized all intangible leasehold assets and adjusted the carrying amount of the ROU assets by a corresponding amount as of February 2, 2019.

Based on the results of the annual impairment test performed for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019, the Virtustream definite-lived intangible assets were
tested for impairment using a quantitative analysis, and due to the Virtustream business changes discussed above, no impairment was identified.

The following table presents the estimated future annual pre-tax amortization expense of definite-lived intangible assets:

Fiscal Years (in millions)
2020 (remaining nine months) $ 3,172
2021 3,360
2022 2,649
2023 1,762
2024 1,399
Thereafter 4,851

Total $ 17,193
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NOTE 9 — DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred Revenue — Deferred revenue is recorded for support and deployment services, software maintenance, professional services, training, and SaaS
when the Company has a right to invoice or payments have been received for undelivered products or services where transfer of control has not occurred.
Revenue is recognized on these items when the revenue recognition criteria are met, generally resulting in ratable recognition over the contract term. The
Company also has deferred revenue related to undelivered hardware and professional services, consisting of installations and consulting engagements, which
are recognized as the Company’s performance obligations under the contract are completed.

The following table presents the changes in the Company’s deferred revenue for the periods indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
 (in millions)
Deferred revenue:    
Deferred revenue at beginning of period $ 24,010  $ 20,816
Revenue deferrals for new contracts and changes in estimates for pre-existing contracts (a) (b) 4,900  4,325
Revenue recognized (4,732)  (4,182)

Deferred revenue at end of period $ 24,178  $ 20,959

Short-term deferred revenue $ 13,043  $ 11,495
Long-term deferred revenue $ 11,135  $ 9,464

____________________
(a) Includes the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
(b) The Company conformed the presentation of certain deferred revenue rollforward activity for the three months ended May 4, 2018 to align current year

presentation. The beginning and ending deferred revenue liability balances remain unchanged.

Remaining Performance Obligations — Remaining performance obligations represent the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance
obligations not delivered, or partially undelivered, as of the end of the reporting period.
Remaining performance obligations include deferred revenue plus unbilled amounts not yet recorded in deferred revenue. The aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations does not include amounts owed under cancelable contracts where there is no substantive
termination penalty.

The Company applied the practical expedient to exclude the value of remaining performance obligations for contracts for which revenue is recognized at the
amount to which the Company has the right to invoice for services performed. The Company also applied the practical expedient to not disclose the amount
of transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations for the periods prior to adoption of the new revenue standard.

Remaining performance obligation estimates are subject to change and are affected by several factors, including terminations, changes in the scope of
contracts, periodic revalidation, adjustments for revenue that have not materialized, and adjustments for currency.

The value of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations as of May 3, 2019 was approximately $31 billion. The Company expects to
recognize approximately 62% of remaining performance obligations as revenue in the next twelve months, and the remainder thereafter.
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NOTE 10 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Matters

The Company is involved in various claims, suits, assessments, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of its
business, including those identified below, consisting of matters involving consumer, antitrust, tax, intellectual property, and other issues on a global basis.

The Company accrues a liability when it believes that it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and that it can reasonably estimate the amount of
the loss. The Company reviews these accruals at least quarterly and adjusts them to reflect ongoing negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel,
and other relevant information. To the extent new information is obtained and the Company’s views on the probable outcomes of claims, suits, assessments,
investigations, or legal proceedings change, changes in the Company’s accrued liabilities would be recorded in the period in which such a determination is
made. For some matters, the amount of liability is not probable or the amount cannot be reasonably estimated and therefore accruals have not been made.

The following is a discussion of the Company’s significant legal matters and other proceedings:

Securities Litigation — On May 21, 2014, a securities class action seeking compensatory damages was filed in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York, captioned City of Pontiac General Employees’ Retirement System v. Dell Inc., et. al. (Case No. 1:14-cv-03644). 
The action names as defendants Dell Inc. and certain current and former executive officers, and alleges that Dell made false and misleading
statements about Dell’s financial results and future prospects between February 21, 2012 and May 22, 2012, which resulted in artificially inflated
stock prices. The case was transferred to the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas under the same caption (Case No. 1:15-cv-
00374), where the defendants filed a motion to dismiss. On September 16, 2016, the Court denied the motion to dismiss. On March 29, 2018, the
Court granted the plaintiffs’ motion for class certification, and certified a class consisting of all purchasers of Dell common stock between February
22, 2012 and May 22, 2012. Fact and expert discovery is now closed. Dell filed a motion for summary judgment on February 18, 2019, which is now
fully-briefed and pending before the Court. If the matter is not dismissed, a trial is currently set for October 2019.

Class Actions Related to the Class V Transaction — Four purported stockholders brought putative class action complaints arising out of the Class V
transaction described in Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The actions were captioned Hallandale Beach Police and
Fire Retirement Plan v. Michael Dell et al. (Civil Action No. 2018-0816-JTL), Howard Karp v. Michael Dell et al. (Civil Action No. 2019-0032-
JTL), Miramar Police Officers’ Retirement Plan v. Michael Dell et al. (Civil Action No. 2019-0049-JTL), and Steamfitters Local 449 Pension Plan v.
Michael Dell et al. (Civil Action No. 2019-0115-JTL).  The four actions were consolidated into In Re Dell Class V Litigation (Consol. C.A. No.
2018-0816-JTL), which names as defendants the Company’s board of directors and certain stockholders of the Company, including Michael S. Dell
and entities through which Mr. Dell allegedly holds a portion of his and/or his family’s stock.  The plaintiffs generally allege that the defendants
breached their fiduciary duties to the former holders of Class V Common Stock in connection with the Class V transaction by allegedly causing the
Company to enter into a transaction that favored the interests of the controlling stockholders at the expense of such former stockholders.  The
Defendants intend to file a motion to dismiss the action.

Copyright Levies — The Company is involved in various proceedings and negotiations regarding Dell’s obligation to collect and remit copyright
levies in certain European Union (“EU”) countries.  The Company continues to collect levies in EU countries where it has determined that local laws
require payment. The Company, along with other companies and/or industry associations, also continues to oppose levy schemes that do not comply
with EU law. The Company does not currently anticipate that any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on its business, financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Other Litigation — The various legal proceedings in which Dell is involved include commercial and intellectual property litigation. Dell does not
currently anticipate that any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash
flows.
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As of May 3, 2019, the Company does not believe there is a reasonable possibility that a material loss exceeding the amounts already accrued for these or
other proceedings or matters has been incurred. However, since the ultimate resolution of any such proceedings and matters is inherently unpredictable, the
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be materially affected in any particular period by unfavorable outcomes in
one or more of these proceedings or matters. Whether the outcome of any claim, suit, assessment, investigation, or legal proceeding, individually or
collectively, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows will depend on a number
of variables, including the nature, timing, and amount of any associated expenses, amounts paid in settlement, damages, or other remedies or consequences.

Indemnifications

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contractual arrangements under which it may agree to indemnify the third party to such
arrangements from any losses incurred relating to the services it performs on behalf of the Company or for losses arising from certain events as defined in the
particular contract, such as litigation or claims relating to past performance. Such indemnification obligations may not be subject to maximum loss clauses.
Historically, payments related to these indemnifications have not been material to the Company.
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NOTE 11 — INCOME AND OTHER TAXES

For the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018, the Company’s effective income tax rates were 330.1% and 13.6%, respectively, on pre-tax losses
of $143 million and $623 million, respectively. The change in the Company’s effective tax rate is primarily driven by discrete tax benefits and a change in the
Company’s jurisdictional mix of income. The Company’s effective tax rate for the three months ended May 4, 2018 includes $154 million of discrete tax
benefits resulting from the impact of its adoption during the quarter of the new revenue recognition standard. For the three months ended May 3, 2019, the
Company’s effective tax rate includes a discrete tax benefit for $405 million resulting from an intra-entity asset transfer that was completed during the quarter.
The tax benefit represents the future amortization the Company will be able to realize over a period of no more than 15 years and is recorded as a deferred tax
asset in the period of the transaction. On May 31, 2019, the Company’s VMware business unit completed a similar transaction and transferred certain of its
intellectual property to its Irish subsidiary.  In the second quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Company will record a discrete tax benefit of approximately $4.5 billion
for this transaction that represents the future amortization the Company will be able to realize for this intellectual property. The Company is evaluating the
impact that this transaction will have on the Company’s estimated annual effective tax rate.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“U.S. Tax Reform”) was signed into law on December 22, 2017.  Among other things, U.S. Tax Reform lowers the U.S.
corporate income tax rate to 21% from 35%, establishes a modified territorial system requiring a mandatory deemed repatriation tax on undistributed earnings
of foreign subsidiaries, requires a minimum tax on certain future earnings generated by foreign subsidiaries while providing for future tax-free repatriation of
earnings through a 100% dividends-received deduction, and places limitations on the deductibility of net interest expense. The Company anticipates that the
U.S. Department of the Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) will continue to issue regulatory guidance clarifying certain provisions of U.S. Tax
Reform.  When additional guidance is issued, the Company will recognize the related tax impact in the fiscal quarter of such issuance.

The differences between the estimated effective income tax rates and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% principally result from the Company’s
geographical distribution of income and differences between the book and tax treatment of certain items. In certain jurisdictions, the Company’s tax rate is
significantly less than the applicable statutory rate as a result of tax holidays. The majority of the Company’s foreign income that is subject to these tax
holidays and lower tax rates is attributable to Singapore, China, and Malaysia. A significant portion of these income tax benefits relates to a tax holiday that
will be effective until January 31, 2029.  The Company’s other tax holidays will expire in whole or in part during fiscal years 2022 through 2030. Many of
these tax holidays and reduced tax rates may be extended when certain conditions are met or may be terminated early if certain conditions are not met.

The Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for fiscal years 2007 through 2009 are currently under consideration by the Office of Appeals of the IRS. The
IRS issued a Revenue Agent’s Report (“RAR”) related to those years during the fiscal year ended February 3, 2017.  The IRS has proposed adjustments
primarily relating to transfer pricing matters with which the Company disagrees and has been contesting through the IRS administrative appeals process.
Although this process has been progressing and the timing of any resolution remains uncertain, the Company anticipates reaching a settlement with the IRS
before the end of the current fiscal year. In May 2017, the IRS commenced a federal income tax audit for fiscal years 2010 through 2014, for which the
Company expects to receive a RAR in early 2020.

The Company is also currently under income tax audits in various state and foreign jurisdictions.  The Company is undergoing negotiations, and in some
cases contested proceedings, relating to tax matters with the taxing authorities in these jurisdictions.  The Company believes that it has provided adequate
reserves related to all matters contained in tax periods open to examination.  Although the Company believes it has made adequate provisions for the
uncertainties surrounding these audits, should the Company experience unfavorable outcomes, such outcomes could have a material impact on its results of
operations, financial position, and cash flows.  With respect to major U.S. state and foreign taxing jurisdictions, the Company is generally not subject to tax
examinations for years prior to the fiscal year ended February 2, 2007.
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Judgment is required in evaluating the Company’s uncertain tax positions and determining the Company’s provision for income taxes. The unrecognized tax
benefits were $3.4 billion as of both May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019 and are included in accrued and other and other non-current liabilities in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. Although timing of resolution or closure of audits is not certain, the Company believes it is
reasonably possible that certain tax matters in various jurisdictions, including those matters discussed above, could be concluded within the next 12 months.
The resolution of these audits could reduce the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits by an estimated amount of between $500 million to $800 million. Such
a reduction will have a material effect on the Company’s effective tax rate.

The Company takes certain non-income tax positions in the jurisdictions in which it operates and has received certain non-income tax assessments from
various jurisdictions. The Company believes that a material loss in these matters is not probable and that it is not reasonably possible that a material loss
exceeding amounts already accrued has been incurred.  The Company believes its positions in these non-income tax litigation matters are supportable and that
it ultimately will prevail in the matters. In the normal course of business, the Company’s positions and conclusions related to its non-income taxes could be
challenged and assessments may be made. To the extent new information is obtained and the Company’s views on its positions, probable outcomes of
assessments, or litigation change, changes in estimates to the Company’s accrued liabilities would be recorded in the period in which such a determination is
made. In the resolution process for income tax and non-income tax audits, the Company is required in certain situations to provide collateral guarantees or
indemnification to regulators and tax authorities until the matter is resolved.
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NOTE 12 — ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is presented in stockholders’ equity (deficit) in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position and consists of amounts related to foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized net gains (losses) on investments, unrealized net gains (losses)
on cash flow hedges, and actuarial net gains (losses) from pension and other postretirement plans.

The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, by the following components as of the dates indicated:

 

Foreign Currency
Translation

Adjustments  Investments  
Cash Flow

Hedges  

Pension and Other
Postretirement

Plans  

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 (in millions)
Balances as of February 1, 2019 $ (452)  $ —  $ (29)  $ 14  $ (467)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications (158)  —  152  7  1
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) —  —  (58)  —  (58)

Total change for the period (158)  —  94  7  (57)
Less: Change in comprehensive income
attributable to non-controlling interests —  —  1  —  1

Balances as of May 3, 2019 $ (610)  $ —  $ 64  $ 21  $ (525)

Amounts related to investments are reclassified to net income (loss) when gains and losses are realized. See Note 3 of the Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the Company’s investments. Amounts related to the Company’s cash flow hedges are reclassified
to net income during the same period in which the items being hedged are recognized in earnings. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information on the Company’s derivative instruments.

The following table presents reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, to net income (loss) for the periods indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018

 Investments  
Cash Flow

Hedges  Total  Investments  
Cash Flow

Hedges  Total
 (in millions)
Total reclassifications, net of tax:            
Net revenue $ —  $ 58  $ 58  $ —  $ (31)  $ (31)
Cost of net revenue —  —  —  —  —  —
Interest and other, net —  —  —  1  —  1

Total reclassifications, net of tax $ —  $ 58  $ 58  $ 1  $ (31)  $ (30)
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NOTE 13 — NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

VMware, Inc. — The non-controlling interests’ share of equity in VMware, Inc. is reflected as a component of the non-controlling interests in the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and was $3.7 billion and $3.8 billion as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019,
respectively. As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the Company held approximately 80.6% and 80.5%, respectively, of the outstanding equity interest in
VMware, Inc.

Pivotal — On April 24, 2018, Pivotal completed a registered underwritten IPO of its Class A common stock. In conjunction with the IPO, all of Pivotal’s
preferred equity shares were converted into shares of its common stock on a one-to-one basis, such that upon completion of its IPO, Pivotal’s outstanding
capital stock consisted solely of common stock. The non-controlling interests’ share of equity in Pivotal is reflected as a component of the non-controlling
interest in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and was $1.0 billion as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019. As of
May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the Company held approximately 61.4% and 62.8%, respectively, of the outstanding equity interest in Pivotal.

Secureworks — The non-controlling interests’ share of equity in Secureworks is reflected as a component of the non-controlling interests in the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and was $91 million and $87 million as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019,
respectively. As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the Company held approximately 86.6% and 87.4%, respectively, of the outstanding equity interest in
Secureworks, excluding restricted stock awards (“RSAs”). As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the Company held approximately 85.9% and 86.4%,
respectively, of the outstanding equity interest in Secureworks, including RSAs.

The following table presents the effect of changes in the Company’s ownership interest in VMware, Inc., Pivotal, and Secureworks on the Company’s equity
for the period indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019
 (in millions)
Net income attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. $ 293
Transfers (to)/from the non-controlling interests:  

Increase in Dell Technologies Inc. additional paid-in-capital for equity issuances and other equity activity 204
Decrease in Dell Technologies Inc. additional paid-in-capital for equity issuances and other equity activity (600)

Net transfers from non-controlling interests (396)

Change from net income attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. and transfers to the non-controlling interests $ (103)
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NOTE 14 — CAPITALIZATION

The following table presents the Company’s authorized, issued, and outstanding common stock as of the dates indicated:

 Authorized  Issued  Outstanding
 (in millions)
Common stock as of May 3, 2019

Class A 600  409  409
Class B 200  137  137
Class C 7,900  175  173
Class D 100  —  —
Class V 343  —  —

 9,143  721  719

      

Common stock as of February 1, 2019
Class A 600  410  410
Class B 200  137  137
Class C 7,900  174  172
Class D 100  —  —
Class V 343  —  —

 9,143  721  719

Under the Company’s certificate of incorporation as amended and restated upon the completion of the Class V transaction described below, the Company is
prohibited from issuing any of the authorized shares of Class V Common Stock.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue one million shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share. As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, no shares of
preferred stock were issued or outstanding.

Common Stock

Common Stock for Fiscal 2020 and Thereafter

Dell Technologies Common Stock — For fiscal periods beginning with the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Class A Common Stock, the Class B Common
Stock, the Class C Common Stock, and the Class D Common Stock, formerly collectively referred to as the DHI Group Common Stock, are collectively
referred to as Dell Technologies Common Stock. The redesignation of such classes of common stock from DHI Group Common Stock to Dell
Technologies Common Stock is intended to align the Company’s reporting with how such classes are referred to by securities analysts, investors, and
other users of the financial statements since the completion on December 28, 2018 of the Class V transaction described below. As a result of the
cancellation of all outstanding Class V Common Stock upon the closing of that transaction, there is no requirement after the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2019
to allocate net income (loss) between two separate groups of common stock denoted the DHI Group Common Stock and the Class V Common Stock or
to report earnings (loss) per share for each such group. Accordingly, net income (loss), earnings (loss) per share and other relevant information will be
reported for Dell Technologies Common Stock for all fiscal periods beginning with the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and, because of lack of comparability
with the new reporting, will be reported separately for the DHI Group and the Class V Common Stock, as applicable, for prior fiscal periods. The par
value for all classes of Dell Technologies Common Stock is $0.01 per share. The Class A Common Stock, the Class B Common Stock, the Class C
Common Stock, and the Class D Common Stock share equally in dividends declared or accumulated and have equal participation rights in undistributed
earnings.
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Common Stock prior to Fiscal 2020

DHI Group Common Stock and DHI Group — For the fiscal periods prior to the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Class A Common Stock, the Class B
Common Stock, the Class C Common Stock, and the Class D Common Stock were collectively referred to as the DHI Group Common Stock. All classes
of DHI Group Common Stock have a par value of $0.01 per share and the Class A Common Stock, the Class B Common Stock, the Class C Common
Stock, and the Class D Common Stock share equally in dividends declared or accumulated and have equal participation rights in undistributed earnings.
Prior to the completion on December 28, 2018 of the Class V transaction, the DHI Group referred to the direct and indirect interest of Dell Technologies
in all of Dell Technologies’ business, assets, properties, liabilities, and preferred stock other than those attributable to the Class V Group, as well as the
DHI Group’s retained interest in the Class V Group. Subsequent to the completion of the Class V transaction, the DHI Group refers to all classes of
issued and outstanding DHI Group Common Stock.

Class V Common Stock and Class V Group — The Class V Common Stock was a class of common stock intended to track the performance of a portion
of Dell Technologies’ economic interest in the Class V Group. The Class V Group consisted solely of VMware, Inc. common stock held by the
Company. As of May 3, 2019, no shares of Class V Common Stock were outstanding.

Voting Rights — Each holder of record of: (a) Class A Common Stock is entitled to ten votes per share of Class A Common Stock; (b) Class B Common
Stock is entitled to ten votes per share of Class B Common Stock; (c) Class C Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share of Class C Common Stock; and
(d) Class D Common Stock is not entitled to any vote on any matter except to the extent required by provisions of Delaware law (in which case such holder is
entitled to one vote per share of Class D Common Stock).

Conversion Rights — Under the Company’s certificate of incorporation, at any time and from time to time, any holder of Class A Common Stock or Class B
Common Stock has the right to convert all or any of the shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock, as applicable, held by such holder into
shares of Class C Common Stock on a one-to-one basis.  During the three months ended May 3, 2019, the Company issued 998,419 shares of Class C
Common Stock to nine stockholders upon the stockholders’ conversion of the same number of shares of Class A Common Stock into Class C Common Stock
in accordance with the terms of the Company’s certificate of incorporation.

Class V Transaction

On December 28, 2018, the Company completed a transaction (the “Class V transaction”) in which it paid $14.0 billion in cash and issued 149,387,617 shares
of its Class C Common Stock to holders of the Class V Common Stock in exchange for all outstanding shares of Class V Common Stock. The non-cash
consideration portion of the Class V transaction totaled $6.9 billion. As a result of the Class V transaction, the tracking stock feature of the Company’s capital
structure associated with the Class V Common Stock was terminated. The Class C Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

The aggregate cash consideration and the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Class V transaction were funded with proceeds of $3.67 billion
from new term loans under the Company’s senior secured credit facilities, proceeds of a margin loan financing in an aggregate principal amount of $1.35
billion, proceeds of the Company’s pro-rata portion, in the amount of $8.87 billion, of a special $11 billion cash dividend paid by VMware, Inc. in connection
with the Class V transaction, and cash on hand at Dell Technologies and its subsidiaries. See Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements for information about the debt incurred by the Company to finance the Class V transaction.
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The merger pursuant to which the Class V transaction was effected and the Class V transaction have been accounted for as a hybrid liability and equity
transaction involving the repurchase of outstanding common stock, with the consideration consisting of a variable combination of cash and shares. Upon
settlement, the accounting for the Class V transaction reflected that the outstanding Class V Common Stock was canceled and exchanged for shares of Class
C Common Stock or $120.00 per share in cash or combination of cash and shares, depending on each holder’s election and subject to proration of the cash
elections. The variable nature of the cash obligation to repurchase the shares of Class V Common Stock required the Company to settle a portion of the shares
in exchange for cash and therefore was accounted for as a financial instrument with an immaterial mark-to-market adjustment for the change in fair value
from the date of the stockholder meeting at which the Company’s stockholders voted to approve the Class V transaction to the election deadline by which
holders of Class V Common Stock elected the form of consideration for which they exchanged their shares.

Repurchases of Common Stock

VMware, Inc. Class A Common Stock Repurchases by VMware, Inc.

Since the date of the EMC merger transaction, VMware, Inc.’s board of directors has authorized the repurchase of a total of $2.2 billion of VMware, Inc.’s
Class A common stock, of which $243 million remained available as of May 3, 2019. VMware, Inc. repurchased 3.3 million shares of its Class A common
stock in the open market for approximately $591 million during the three months ended May 3, 2019. During the three months ended May 4, 2018, VMware
Inc. did not repurchase any shares of its Class A common stock.

All shares repurchased under VMware, Inc.’s stock repurchase programs are retired.
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NOTE 15 — EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share is based on the weighted-average effect of all common shares issued and outstanding and is calculated by dividing net income
(loss) by the weighted-average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the
weighted-average number of common shares used in the basic earnings (loss) per share calculation plus the number of common shares that would be issued
assuming exercise or conversion of all potentially dilutive instruments. The Company excludes equity instruments from the calculation of diluted earnings
(loss) per share if the effect of including such instruments is antidilutive.

Until the completion on December 28, 2018 of the Class V transaction described in Note 14 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company had two groups of common stock, denoted as the DHI Group Common Stock and the Class V Common Stock.

The Class V Common Stock was a class of common stock intended to track the economic performance of 61% of the Company’s interest in the Class V
Group, which consisted solely of VMware, Inc. common stock held by the Company. Upon the completion of the Class V transaction, all outstanding shares
of Class V Common Stock ceased to be outstanding, and the tracking stock structure was terminated. The Class C Common Stock issued to former holders of
the Class V Common Stock in the Class V transaction represents an interest in the Company’s entire business and, unlike the Class V Common Stock, is not
intended to track the performance of any distinct assets or business.

Prior to Fiscal 2020, the DHI Group Common Stock consists of the Class A Common Stock, the Class B Common Stock, the Class C Common Stock, and the
Class D Common Stock. The DHI Group referred to the direct and indirect interest of Dell Technologies in all of Dell Technologies’ business, assets,
properties, liabilities, and preferred stock other than those attributable to the Class V Group, as well as the DHI Group’s retained interest in the Class V
Group.

For fiscal periods beginning with the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Class A Common Stock, the Class B Common Stock, the Class C Common Stock, and
the Class D Common Stock, formerly collectively referred to as the DHI Group Common Stock, are collectively referred to as Dell Technologies Common
Stock. The redesignation of such classes of common stock from DHI Group Common Stock to Dell Technologies Common Stock is intended to align the
Company’s reporting with how such classes are referred to by securities analysts, investors, and other users of the financial statements since the completion of
the Class V transaction. As a result of the cancellation of all outstanding Class V Common Stock upon the closing of that transaction, there is no requirement
after the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2019 to allocate net income (loss) between two separate groups of common stock denoted DHI Group Common Stock and
the Class V Common Stock or to report earnings (loss) per share measures for each such group. Accordingly, net income (loss), earnings (loss) per share and
other relevant information will be reported for Dell Technologies Common Stock for all fiscal periods beginning with the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and,
because of the lack of comparability with the new reporting, will be reported separately for the DHI Group and the Class V Common Stock, as applicable, for
prior fiscal periods.

For purposes of calculating earnings (loss) per share, the Company uses the two-class method. As all classes of Dell Technologies Common Stock and DHI
Group Common Stock share the same rights in dividends, basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are the same for each class of both Dell Technologies
Common Stock and DHI Group Common Stock.

51



Table of Contents
DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(unaudited)

The following table presents the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the periods indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. - basic:
Dell Technologies Common Stock $ 0.41   
Class V Common Stock   $ 2.36
DHI Group   $ (1.95)
    

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. - diluted:
Dell Technologies Common Stock $ 0.38   
Class V Common Stock   $ 2.33
DHI Group   $ (1.95)

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the period indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019
 (in millions)
Numerator: Dell Technologies Common Stock  

Net income attributable to Dell Technologies - basic $ 293
Incremental dilution from VMware, Inc. attributable to Dell Technologies (a) (8)

Net income attributable to Dell Technologies - diluted $ 285
  

Denominator: Dell Technologies Common Stock weighted-average shares outstanding  
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic 717

Dilutive effect of options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, and other 34

Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted 751

Weighted-average shares outstanding - antidilutive 6
____________________
(a) The incremental dilution from VMware, Inc. represents the impact of VMware, Inc.’s dilutive securities on diluted earnings (loss) per share of Dell

Technologies Common Stock, and is calculated by multiplying the difference between VMware, Inc.’s basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share by the
number of shares of VMware, Inc. common stock held by the Company.
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The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share prior to Fiscal 2020:

 Three Months Ended
 May 4, 2018
 (in millions)
Numerator: Class V Common Stock  

Net income attributable to Class V Common Stock - basic $ 470
Incremental dilution from VMware, Inc. attributable to Class V Common Stock (a) (7)

Net income attributable to Class V Common Stock - diluted $ 463
  

Numerator: DHI Group  
Net loss attributable to DHI Group - basic $ (1,106)

Incremental dilution from VMware, Inc. attributable to DHI Group (a) (4)
Net loss attributable to DHI Group - diluted $ (1,110)

  

Denominator: Class V Common Stock weighted-average shares outstanding  
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic 199

Dilutive effect of options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, and other (b) —

Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted 199

Weighted-average shares outstanding - antidilutive (b) —
  

Denominator: DHI Group weighted-average shares outstanding  
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic 568

Dilutive effect of options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, and other —

Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted 568

Weighted-average shares outstanding - antidilutive (c) 34
____________________
(a) The incremental dilution from VMware, Inc. represents the impact of VMware, Inc.’s dilutive securities on the diluted earnings (loss) per share of the

DHI Group and the Class V Common Stock, respectively, and is calculated by multiplying the difference between VMware, Inc.’s basic and diluted
earnings (loss) per share by the number of shares of VMware, Inc. common stock held by the Company.

(b) The dilutive effect of Class V Common Stock-based incentive awards was not material to the calculation of the weighted-average Class V Common
Stock shares outstanding. The antidilutive effect of these awards was also not material.

(c) Stock-based incentive awards have been excluded from the calculation of the DHI Group’s diluted loss per share because their effect would have been
antidilutive, as the Company had a net loss as to the DHI Group for the periods presented.

The following table presents a reconciliation to the consolidated net loss attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. prior to Fiscal 2020:

 Three Months Ended
 May 4, 2018
 (in millions)
Net income attributable to Class V Common Stock (a) $ 470
Net loss attributable to DHI Group (1,106)

Net loss attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. $ (636)

____________________
(a) See Exhibit 99.1 filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended May 4, 2018 for a reconciliation of VMware

net income to net income attributable to Class V Common Stock.
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NOTE 16 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Restricted Stock — During the three months ended May 3, 2019, the Company granted long-term incentive awards in the form of 9.7 million service-based
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and 1.9 million performance-based RSUs in order to align critical talent retention programs with the interests of holders of the
Class C Common Stock.

The service-based RSUs have a fair value based on the closing price of the Class C Common Stock price as reported on the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) on the grant date. Most of such RSUs vest ratably over a three-year period.  Each service-based RSU represents the right to acquire one share of
Class C Common Stock upon vesting.

The performance-based RSUs are reflected at target units while the actual number of units that ultimately vest will range from 0% to 200% of target, based on
the level of achievement of the performance goals and continued employment with the Company over a performance period ending March 14, 2022.
 Approximately 0.9 million of the performance-based RSUs are subject to achievement of market-based performance goals based on relative total shareholder
return.  For the non-market performance-based RSUs, the fair values will be based on the closing price of the Class C Common Stock as reported on the
NYSE on the accounting grant date. For the three months ended May 3, 2019, approximately one-third of the non-market performance awards have been
valued and are considered outstanding for accounting purposes. Market-based performance awards utilized a Monte Carlo valuation model to simulate the
probabilities of achievement of relative total shareholder return in order to determine the awards’ fair value.

The following table presents the assumptions utilized in the valuation model for the period indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019
Weighted-average grant date fair value $ 87.17
Expected term (in years) 3.0
Risk-free rate (U.S. Government Treasury Note) 2.4%
Expected volatility 45%
Expected dividend yield —%

As of May 3, 2019, there were 19 million shares of Class C Common Stock available for future grants under the Dell Technologies Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive
Plan.

As of May 3, 2019, 16 million RSUs were outstanding, of which 5 million RSUs were subject to performance conditions. The awards outstanding have a
weighted-average grant date fair value of $49.58 per share and an aggregate intrinsic value of $1,069 million based on the closing price of the Class C
Common Stock as reported on the NYSE on May 3, 2019. As of May 3, 2019, there was $550 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense,
net of estimated forfeitures, related to these awards expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.8 years.
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NOTE 17 — REDEEMABLE SHARES

Awards under the Company’s stock incentive plans include certain rights that allow the holder to exercise a put feature for the underlying Class A or Class C
Common Stock after a six month holding period following the issuance of such common stock. The put feature requires the Company to purchase the stock at
its fair market value. Accordingly, these awards and such common stock are subject to reclassification from equity to temporary equity, and the Company
determines the award amounts to be classified as temporary equity as follows:

• For stock options to purchase Class C Common Stock subject to service requirements, the intrinsic value of the option is multiplied by the portion of
the option for which services have been rendered. Upon exercise of the option, the amount in temporary equity represents the fair value of the Class
C Common Stock.

• For stock appreciation rights, RSUs, or RSAs, any of which stock award types are subject to service requirements, the fair value of the share is
multiplied by the portion of the share for which services have been rendered.

• For share-based arrangements that are subject to the occurrence of a contingent event, those amounts are not reclassified to temporary equity until
the contingency has been satisfied. Contingent events include the achievement of performance-based metrics.

In connection with the Class V transaction described in Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the put feature provisions were
amended to provide that the put feature will terminate two years after the expiration on June 27, 2019 of the post‑transaction lock‑up applicable to transfers of
Dell Technologies securities, or earlier upon consummation of any underwritten public offering of shares of Class C Common Stock.

The following table presents the amount of redeemable shares classified as temporary equity and summarizes the award type as of the dates presented:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)
Redeemable shares classified as temporary equity $ 1,774  $ 1,196
    

Issued and outstanding unrestricted common shares 3  3
Restricted stock units 3  1
Restricted stock awards 1  —
Outstanding stock options 31  31

The increase in the value of redeemable shares during the three months ended May 3, 2019 was primarily attributable to an increase in Class C Common
Stock fair value, as well as the reassessment of vesting of performance-based awards.
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NOTE 18 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has three reportable segments that are based on the following business units: Infrastructure Solutions Group (“ISG”); Client Solutions Group
(“CSG”); and VMware.

ISG enables the digital transformation of the Company’s customers through its trusted multi-cloud and big data solutions, which are built upon a modern data
center infrastructure. The ISG comprehensive portfolio of advanced storage solutions includes traditional storage solutions as well as next-generation storage
solutions (such as all-flash arrays, scale-out file, object platforms, and software-defined solutions), while the Company’s server portfolio includes high-
performance rack, blade, tower, and hyperscale servers. The ISG networking portfolio helps business customers transform and modernize their infrastructure,
mobilize and enrich end-user experiences, and accelerate business applications and processes. ISG also offers attached software, peripherals, and services,
including support and deployment, configuration, and extended warranty services.

CSG includes sales to commercial and consumer customers of branded hardware (such as desktops, workstations, and notebooks) and branded peripherals
(such as displays and projectors), as well as services and third-party software and peripherals. CSG also offers attached software, peripherals, and services,
including support and deployment, configuration, and extended warranty services.

VMware works with customers in the areas of hybrid cloud, multi-cloud, modern applications, networking and security, and digital workspaces, helping
customers manage their IT resources across private clouds and complex multi-cloud, multi-device environments. VMware solutions provide a flexible digital
foundation to enable the digital transformation of VMware’s customers as they ready their applications, infrastructure, and devices for their future business
needs.

The reportable segments disclosed herein are based on information reviewed by the Company’s management to evaluate the business segment results. The
Company’s measure of segment operating income for management reporting purposes excludes the impact of Other businesses, purchase accounting,
amortization of intangible assets, unallocated corporate transactions, severance and facility action costs, stock-based compensation expense, and transaction-
related expenses. The Company does not allocate assets to the above reportable segments for internal reporting purposes.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net revenue by the Company’s reportable segments to the Company’s consolidated net revenue as well as a
reconciliation of consolidated segment operating income to the Company’s consolidated operating income (loss) for the periods indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
 (in millions)

Consolidated net revenue:    
Infrastructure Solutions Group $ 8,202  $ 8,667
Client Solutions Group 10,910  10,271
VMware 2,282  2,028

Reportable segment net revenue 21,394  20,966
Other businesses (a) 596  579
Unallocated transactions (b) —  (2)
Impact of purchase accounting (c) (82)  (187)

Total consolidated net revenue $ 21,908  $ 21,356

    

Consolidated operating income (loss):    
Infrastructure Solutions Group $ 843  $ 939
Client Solutions Group 793  533
VMware 614  613

Reportable segment operating income 2,250  2,085
Other businesses (a) (53)  (50)
Unallocated transactions (b) (1)  (9)
Impact of purchase accounting (c) (101)  (222)
Amortization of intangibles (1,217)  (1,522)
Transaction-related expenses (d) (42)  (166)
Stock-based compensation expense (e) (263)  (199)
Other corporate expenses (f) (23)  (70)

Total consolidated operating income (loss) $ 550  $ (153)
____________________
(a) Pivotal, Secureworks, RSA Security, Virtustream, and Boomi constitute “Other businesses” and do not meet the requirements for a reportable segment,

either individually or collectively. The results of Other businesses are not material to the Company’s overall results.
(b) Unallocated transactions includes long-term incentives, certain short-term incentive compensation expenses, and other corporate items that are not

allocated to Dell Technologies’ reportable segments.
(c) Impact of purchase accounting includes non-cash purchase accounting adjustments that are primarily related to the EMC merger transaction.
(d) Transaction-related expenses includes acquisition, integration, and divestiture related costs, as well as the costs incurred in the Class V transaction.
(e) Stock-based compensation expense consists of equity awards granted based on the estimated fair value of those awards at grant date.
(f) Other corporate expenses includes severance and facility action costs.
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The following table presents the disaggregation of net revenue by reportable segment, and by major product categories within the segments for the periods
indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
 (in millions)

Net revenue:    
Infrastructure Solutions Group:    

Servers and networking $ 4,180  $ 4,585
Storage 4,022  4,082

Total ISG net revenue 8,202  8,667
Client Solutions Group:    

Commercial 8,307  7,363
Consumer 2,603  2,908

Total CSG net revenue 10,910  10,271
VMware:    

Total VMware net revenue 2,282  2,028

Reportable segment net revenue $ 21,394  $ 20,966
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NOTE 19 — SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table presents additional information on selected accounts included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of the
dates indicated:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,040  $ 9,676
Restricted cash - other current assets (a) 629  522
Restricted cash - other non-current assets (a) 40  42

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 9,709  $ 10,240

Inventories, net:    
Production materials $ 1,561  $ 1,794
Work-in-process 722  702
Finished goods 1,077  1,153

Total inventories, net $ 3,360  $ 3,649

Other non-current liabilities:    
Warranty liability $ 162  $ 169
Deferred and other tax liabilities 4,688  5,527
Non-current operating lease liabilities 1,138  —
Other 537  631

Total other non-current liabilities $ 6,525  $ 6,327
____________________
(a) Restricted cash includes cash required to be held in escrow pursuant to DFS securitization arrangements and VMware, Inc. restricted cash.

Warranty Liability

The following table presents changes in the Company’s liability for standard limited warranties for the periods indicated:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018

 (in millions)
Warranty liability:    
Warranty liability at beginning of period $ 524  $ 539

Costs accrued for new warranty contracts and changes in estimates for pre-existing warranties (a) (b) 203  194
Service obligations honored (227)  (206)

Warranty liability at end of period $ 500  $ 527

Current portion $ 338  $ 358
Non-current portion $ 162  $ 169

____________________
(a) Changes in cost estimates related to pre-existing warranties are aggregated with accruals for new standard warranty contracts. The Company’s warranty

liability process does not differentiate between estimates made for pre-existing warranties and new warranty obligations.
(b) Includes the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
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ITEM 2 — MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes
included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019 and the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that
reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs, and that are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those
expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements.

Unless otherwise indicated, all results presented are prepared in a manner that complies, in all material respects, with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Additionally, unless otherwise indicated, all changes identified for the current-period results
represent comparisons to results for the prior corresponding fiscal period.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this report to “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company,” and “Dell Technologies” mean Dell Technologies
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, references to “Dell” mean Dell Inc. and Dell Inc.’s consolidated subsidiaries, and references to “EMC” mean EMC
Corporation and EMC Corporation’s consolidated subsidiaries.

Our fiscal year is the 52- or 53-week period ending on the Friday nearest January 31. We refer to our fiscal year ending January 31, 2020 and our fiscal
year ended February 1, 2019 as “Fiscal 2020” and “Fiscal 2019,” respectively. Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 include 52 weeks.

INTRODUCTION

Dell Technologies is a leading global end-to-end technology provider, with a comprehensive portfolio of IT hardware, software, and service solutions
spanning both traditional infrastructure and emerging, multi-cloud technologies that enable our customers to build their digital future and transform how they
work and live. We collaborate across key functional areas such as technology and product development, marketing, go-to-market and global services, and are
supported by Dell Financial Services. We believe this operational philosophy enables our platform to seamlessly deliver differentiated and holistic IT
solutions to our customers, which has driven significant revenue growth and share gains.

Dell Technologies operates with significant scale and a differentiated breadth of complementary offerings. Digital transformation has become essential to all
businesses, and we have expanded our portfolio to include holistic solutions that enable our customers to drive their ongoing digital transformation initiatives.
Dell Technologies’ integrated solutions help customers modernize their IT infrastructure, address workforce transformation, and provide critical security
solutions to protect against the ever increasing and evolving security threats. With our extensive portfolio and our commitment to innovation, we have the
ability to offer secure, integrated solutions that extend from the edge to the core to the cloud, and we are at the forefront of the software-defined and cloud
native infrastructure era. Our end-to-end portfolio is supported by a differentiated go-to-market engine, which includes a 40,000-person sales force, a global
network of channel partners, and a world-class supply chain that together drive revenue growth and operating efficiencies.
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Products and Services

We design, develop, manufacture, market, sell, and support a wide range of products and services. We are organized into the following business units, which
are our reportable segments: Infrastructure Solutions Group; Client Solutions Group; and VMware.

• Infrastructure Solutions Group (“ISG”) — ISG enables the digital transformation of our customers through our trusted multi-cloud and big data
solutions, which are built upon a modern data center infrastructure. Our comprehensive portfolio of advanced storage solutions includes traditional
storage solutions as well as next-generation storage solutions (such as all-flash arrays, scale-out file, object platforms, and software-defined
solutions), while our server portfolio includes high-performance rack, blade, tower, and hyperscale servers. Our networking portfolio helps our
business customers transform and modernize their infrastructure, mobilize and enrich end-user experiences, and accelerate business applications and
processes. Our strengths in server, storage, and virtualization software solutions enable us to offer leading converged and hyper-converged solutions,
helping customers build modern two-tier IT architecture for simplified management and operations. This allows our customers to accelerate their IT
transformation by acquiring scalable integrated IT solutions instead of building and assembling their own IT platforms. ISG also offers attached
software, peripherals, and services, including support and deployment, configuration, and extended warranty services.

We are continuing our journey to simplify our storage portfolio, with the goal of ensuring that we deliver the technology needed for our customers’
digital transformation. As our storage portfolio evolves, we will continue to support our current portfolio of storage solutions.

Approximately half of ISG revenue is generated by sales to customers in the Americas, with the remaining portion derived from sales to customers
in the Europe, Middle East, and Africa region (“EMEA”) and the Asia-Pacific and Japan region (“APJ”).

• Client Solutions Group (“CSG”) — CSG includes branded hardware (such as desktops, workstations, and notebooks) and branded peripherals (such
as displays and projectors), as well as third-party software and peripherals. Our computing devices are designed with our commercial and consumer
customers’ needs in mind, and we seek to optimize performance, reliability, manageability, design, and security. In addition to our traditional
hardware business, we have a portfolio of thin client offerings that we believe will allow us to benefit from the growth trends in cloud computing.
For our customers that are seeking to simplify client lifecycle management, Dell PC as a Service offering combines hardware, software, lifecycle
services, and financing into one all-encompassing solution that provides predictable pricing per seat per month through Dell Financial Services. CSG
also offers attached software, peripherals, and services, including support and deployment, configuration, and extended warranty services.

Approximately half of CSG revenue is generated by sales to customers in the Americas, with the remaining portion derived from sales to customers
in EMEA and APJ.

• VMware — The VMware reportable segment (“VMware”) reflects the operations of VMware, Inc. (NYSE: VMW) within Dell Technologies.

VMware works with customers in the areas of hybrid cloud, multi-cloud, modern applications, networking and security, and digital workspaces,
helping customers manage their IT resources across private clouds and complex multi-cloud, multi-device environments. VMware’s portfolio
supports and addresses the key IT priorities of customers: accelerating their cloud journey, empowering digital workspaces, and transforming
networking and security. VMware solutions provide a flexible digital foundation to enable the digital transformation of VMware’s customers as they
ready their applications, infrastructure, and devices for their future business needs.

Approximately half of VMware revenue is generated by sales to customers in the United States.
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Our other businesses, described below, consist of product and service offerings of Pivotal, Secureworks, RSA Security, Virtustream, and Boomi, each of
which is majority-owned by Dell Technologies. These businesses are not classified as reportable segments, either individually or collectively, as the results of
the businesses are not material to our overall results and the businesses do not meet the criteria for reportable segments. See Note 18 of the Notes to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for more information about our other businesses.

• Pivotal (NYSE: PVTL) provides a leading cloud-native platform that makes software development and IT operations a strategic advantage for
customers. Pivotal’s cloud-native platform, Pivotal Cloud Foundry, accelerates and streamlines software development by reducing the complexity of
building, deploying, and operating new cloud-native applications and modernizing legacy applications. On April 24, 2018, Pivotal completed a
registered underwritten initial public offering of its Class A common stock.

• Secureworks (NASDAQ: SCWX) is a leading global provider of intelligence-driven information security solutions singularly focused on protecting
its clients from cyber attacks. The solutions offered by Secureworks enable organizations of varying size and complexity to fortify their cyber
defenses to prevent security breaches, detect malicious activity in near real time, prioritize and respond rapidly to security incidents and predict
emerging threats.

• RSA Security provides essential cybersecurity solutions engineered to enable organizations to detect, investigate, and respond to advanced attacks,
confirm and manage identities, and, ultimately, help reduce IP theft, fraud, and cybercrime.

• Virtustream offers cloud software and infrastructure-as-a-service solutions that enable customers to migrate, run, and manage mission-critical
applications in cloud-based IT environments.

• Boomi specializes in cloud-based integration, connecting information between existing on-premise and cloud-based applications to ensure business
processes are optimized, data is accurate and workflow is reliable.

We recently unveiled the Dell Technologies Cloud, a new set of cloud infrastructure solutions to make hybrid cloud environments simpler to deploy and
manage. The Dell Technologies Cloud portfolio consists of the new Dell Technologies Cloud Platforms and the new Data Center-as-a-Service offering,
VMware Cloud on Dell EMC. These enable a flexible range of IT and management options with tight integration and a single vendor experience for
purchasing, deployment, services, and financing, giving customers more control as the operational hub of their hybrid clouds. We believe the increasing
collaboration, innovation, and coordination of the operations and strategies of our businesses, as well as our differentiated go-to-market model, will continue
to drive revenue synergies. Through our coordinated research and development activities, we are able to jointly engineer leading innovative solutions that
incorporate the distinct set of hardware, software, and services across our businesses.

Our products and services offerings are continually evolving in response to industry dynamics. As a result, reclassifications of certain products and services
solutions in major product categories may be required. For further discussion regarding our current reportable segments, see “Results of Operations —
Business Unit Results.”

Dell Financial Services

Dell Financial Services and its affiliates (“DFS”) support our businesses by offering and arranging various financing options and services for our customers in
North America, Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. DFS originates, collects, and services customer receivables primarily related to the purchase or use of
our product, software, and service solutions. We also arrange financing for some of our customers in various countries where DFS does not currently operate
as a captive enterprise. DFS further strengthens our customer relationships through its flexible consumption models, which enable us to offer our customers
the option to pay over time and, in certain cases, based on utilization, to provide them with financial flexibility to meet their changing technological
requirements. The results of these operations are allocated to our segments based on the underlying product or service financed. For additional information
about our financing arrangements, see Note 4 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.
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Strategic Investments and Acquisitions

As part of our strategy, we will continue to evaluate opportunities for strategic investments through our venture capital investment arm, Dell Technologies
Capital, with a focus on emerging technology areas that are relevant to the Dell Technologies unique family of businesses and that will complement our
existing portfolio of solutions. Our investment areas include storage, software-defined networking, management and orchestration, security, machine learning
and artificial intelligence, Big Data and analytics, cloud, Internet of Things (“IoT”), and software development operations. In addition to these investments,
we also may make disciplined acquisitions targeting businesses that advance our strategic objectives. As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, Dell
Technologies held strategic investments of $0.8 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively.

Business Trends and Challenges

We are seeing an accelerated rate of change in the IT industry. Organizations are embracing digital technology to achieve their business objectives. Our vision
is to be an essential infrastructure company and leader in end-user computing, data center infrastructure solutions, data management, virtualization, IoT, and
cloud software that our customers continue to trust and rely on for their IT solutions and their broader business transformation objectives as they embrace the
hybrid multi-cloud environment of today.

We continue to invest in research and development, sales, and other key areas of our business to deliver superior products and solutions capabilities and to
drive execution of long-term sustainable growth. We believe that our results will benefit from an integrated go-to-market strategy, including enhanced
coordination among the family of Dell Technologies companies, and from our differentiated products and solutions capabilities. We intend to continue to
execute on our business model and seek to balance liquidity, profitability, and growth to position our company for long-term success.

We expect that ISG will continue to be impacted by the changing nature of the IT infrastructure market and competitive environment. In our server business,
we may continue to be selective in determining whether to pursue certain large transactions as we drive for balanced growth and profitability. With our scale
and strong product portfolio, we believe we are well positioned to respond to ongoing competitive dynamics. Cloud-native applications are expected to
continue as a primary growth driver in the infrastructure market as IT organizations increasingly become multi-cloud environments. We believe the
complementary cloud solutions across our business strongly position us to meet these demands for our customers, who are increasingly looking to leverage
different forms of cloud-based computing. We also continue to be impacted by the emerging trends of enterprises deploying software-defined storage, hyper-
converged infrastructure, and modular solutions based on server-centric architectures. These trends are changing the way customers are consuming our
traditional storage offerings, and we are focused on enabling new capabilities in our storage portfolio. Offsetting such trends, however, is the unprecedented
data growth throughout all industries, which is generating continued demand for our storage products and services. We have leading solutions through our
ISG and VMware data center offerings. In addition, through our research and development efforts, we expect to develop new solutions in this rapidly
changing industry that we believe will enable us to continue to provide superior solutions to our customers.

In ISG, we are also seeing continued interest in flexible consumption models by our customers as they seek to build greater flexibility into their cost
structures. These solutions are generally multi-year contracts that typically result in recognition of revenue over the term of the arrangement. We expect these
flexible consumption models will further strengthen our customer relationships and will provide more predictable revenue streams over time.

We are able to leverage our traditional strength in the PC market to offer solutions and services that provide higher-value, recurring revenue streams. Given
current market trends, we expect that the demand environment will continue to be cyclical and that competitive dynamics will continue to pressure our CSG
business. However, we are committed to a long-term growth strategy that we believe will benefit from the consolidation trends that are occurring in our
markets. Our CSG offerings are an important element of our strategy, generating strong cash flow and opportunities for cross-selling of complementary
solutions.

We manage our business on a U.S. dollar basis. However, we have a large global presence, generating approximately half of our revenue by sales to
customers outside of the United States during the first three months of Fiscal 2020 and the first three months of Fiscal 2019. Our revenue, therefore, can be
impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize a comprehensive hedging strategy intended to mitigate the impact of foreign currency
volatility over time, and we adjust pricing when possible to further minimize foreign currency impacts.
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Key Performance Metrics

Our key performance metrics are net revenue, operating income, adjusted EBITDA, and cash flows from operations, which are discussed elsewhere in this
report.

Class V Transaction

On December 28, 2018, we completed a transaction (“Class V transaction”) in which we paid $14.0 billion in cash and issued 149,387,617 shares of our Class
C Common Stock to holders of our Class V Common Stock in exchange for all outstanding shares of Class V Common Stock. The non-cash consideration
portion of the Class V transaction totaled $6.9 billion. As a result of the Class V transaction, the tracking stock feature of Dell Technologies’ capital structure
was terminated. The Class C Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

The aggregate cash consideration and the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Class V transaction were funded with proceeds of $3.67 billion
from new term loans under our senior secured credit facilities, proceeds of a margin loan financing in an aggregate principal amount of $1.35 billion,
proceeds of Dell Technologies’ pro-rata portion, in the amount of $8.87 billion, of a special $11 billion cash dividend paid by VMware, Inc. in connection
with the Class V transaction, and cash on hand at Dell Technologies and its subsidiaries. See Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report for information about the debt incurred by us to finance the Class V transaction.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

In this management’s discussion and analysis, we use supplemental measures of our performance which are derived from our consolidated financial
information but which are not presented in our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures
include non-GAAP product net revenue; non-GAAP services net revenue; non-GAAP net revenue; non-GAAP product gross margin; non-GAAP services
gross margin; non-GAAP gross margin; non-GAAP operating expenses; non-GAAP operating income; non-GAAP net income; earnings before interest and
other, net, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”); and adjusted EBITDA.
 
We use non-GAAP financial measures to supplement financial information presented on a GAAP basis. We believe that excluding certain items from our
GAAP results allows management to better understand our consolidated financial performance from period to period and better project our future
consolidated financial performance as forecasts are developed at a level of detail different from that used to prepare GAAP-based financial measures.
Moreover, we believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide our stakeholders with useful information to help them evaluate our operating results by
facilitating an enhanced understanding of our operating performance and enabling them to make more meaningful period to period comparisons. There are
limitations to the use of the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this report. Our non-GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures of other companies. Other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate non-GAAP financial measures differently than we
do, limiting the usefulness of those measures for comparative purposes.

Non-GAAP product net revenue, non-GAAP services net revenue, non-GAAP net revenue, non-GAAP product gross margin, non-GAAP services gross
margin, non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, non-GAAP operating income, and non-GAAP net income, as defined by us, exclude
amortization of intangible assets, the impact of purchase accounting, transaction-related expenses, stock-based compensation expense, other corporate
expenses and, for non-GAAP net income, fair value adjustments on equity adjustments and an aggregate adjustment for income taxes. As the excluded items
have a material impact on our financial results, our management compensates for this limitation by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using non-
GAAP financial measures supplementally or for projections when comparable GAAP financial measures are not available. The non-GAAP financial
measures are not meant to be considered as indicators of performance in isolation from or as a substitute for net revenue, gross margin, operating expenses,
operating income, or net income prepared in accordance with GAAP, and should be read only in conjunction with financial information presented on a GAAP
basis.

Reconciliations of each non-GAAP financial measure to its most directly comparable GAAP financial measure are presented below. We encourage you to
review the reconciliations in conjunction with the presentation of the non-GAAP financial measures for each of the periods presented. The discussion below
includes information on each of the excluded items as well as our reasons for excluding them from our non-GAAP results. In future fiscal periods, we may
exclude such items and may incur income and expenses similar to these excluded items. Accordingly, the exclusion of these items and other similar items in
our non-GAAP presentation should not be interpreted as implying that these items are non-recurring, infrequent, or unusual.

Dell Technologies’ non-GAAP net income now excludes, among other items, fair value adjustments on equity investments as well as discrete tax items. These
items were not excluded in the prior presentation of our non-GAAP net income for the three months ended May 4, 2018. Upon our return to the public
markets in December 2018 as a result of the Class V transaction, we reevaluated the presentation of non-GAAP net income and made these changes to
facilitate the evaluation of our current operating performance and the comparability of our current operating performance to our past operating performance.
Non-GAAP net income for the three months ended May 4, 2018 has been recast to reflect the current presentation. The following is a summary of the items
excluded from the most comparable GAAP financial measures to calculate our non-GAAP financial measures:

• Amortization of Intangible Assets — Amortization of intangible assets primarily consists of amortization of customer relationships, developed
technology, and trade names. In connection with the EMC merger transaction and the acquisition of Dell Inc. by Dell Technologies Inc. on October 29,
2013, referred to as the going-private transaction, all of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of EMC and Dell, respectively, were accounted
for and recognized at fair value on the transaction dates. Accordingly, for the periods presented, amortization of intangible assets represents amortization
associated with intangible assets recognized in connection with the EMC merger transaction and the going-private transaction. Amortization charges for
purchased intangible assets are significantly impacted by the timing and magnitude of our acquisitions, and these charges may vary in amount from
period to period. We exclude these charges for purposes of calculating the non-GAAP financial measures presented below to facilitate a more meaningful
evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to our past operating performance.
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• Impact of Purchase Accounting — The impact of purchase accounting includes purchase accounting adjustments related to the EMC merger transaction
and, to a lesser extent, the going-private transaction, recorded under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the accounting guidance for
business combinations. This guidance prescribes that the purchase price be allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair
value of such assets and liabilities on the date of the transaction. Accordingly, all of the assets and liabilities acquired in the EMC merger transaction and
the going-private transaction were accounted for and recognized at fair value as of the respective transaction dates, and the fair value adjustments are
being amortized over the estimated useful lives in the periods following the transactions. The fair value adjustments primarily relate to deferred revenue,
inventory, and property, plant, and equipment. The purchase accounting adjustments and related amortization of those adjustments are reflected in our
GAAP results; however, we evaluate the operating results of the underlying businesses on a non-GAAP basis, after removing such adjustments. We
believe that excluding the impact of purchase accounting provides results that are useful in understanding our current operating performance and provides
more meaningful comparisons to our past operating performance.

• Transaction-related Expenses — Transaction-related expenses consist of acquisition, integration, and divestiture related costs, and are expensed as
incurred. These expenses primarily represent costs for legal, banking, consulting, and advisory services, as well as certain compensatory retention awards
directly related to the EMC merger transaction.  During the first quarter of Fiscal 2019, this category also included $116 million of expenses related to
integration of our inventory policies and management process related to customer evaluation units.

• Stock-based Compensation Expense — Stock-based compensation expense consists of equity awards granted based on the estimated fair value of those
awards at grant date. For service-based stock options, we typically estimate the fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation model and for performance-
based awards containing a market condition, we estimate the fair value using the Monte Carlo valuation model. Our non-GAAP adjustment for stock-
based compensation expense was previously included within the other corporate expenses non-GAAP adjustment. Due to the growth in our stock-based
compensation expense, we have revised our presentation to present stock-based compensation expense separately in our reconciliations presented below.
Stock-based compensation expense varies from period to period and is significantly impacted by our share price and the various assumptions used for
valuation purposes. Therefore, although we will incur this type of expense in the future, we believe that eliminating these charges for purposes of
calculating the non-GAAP financial measures presented below facilitates a more meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and
comparisons to our past operating performance.

• Other Corporate Expenses — Other corporate expenses consists primarily of severance, facility action, and other costs. Severance costs are primarily
related to severance and benefits for employees terminated pursuant to cost savings initiatives. We continue to integrate owned and leased facilities and
may incur additional costs as we seek opportunities for operational efficiencies. Other corporate expenses vary from period to period and are significantly
impacted by the timing and nature of these events. Therefore, although we may incur these types of expenses in the future, we believe that eliminating
these charges for purposes of calculating the non-GAAP financial measures presented below facilitates a more meaningful evaluation of our current
operating performance and comparisons to our past operating performance.

• Fair Value Adjustments on Equity Investments — Fair value adjustments on equity investments primarily consists of the gain (loss) on strategic
investments, which includes the recurring fair value adjustments of investments in publicly-traded companies, as well as those in privately-held
companies, which are adjusted for observable price changes, and to a lesser extent any potential impairments. Given the volatility in the ongoing
adjustments to the valuation of these strategic investments, we believe that excluding these gains and losses for purposes of calculating non-GAAP net
income presented below facilitates a more meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to our past operating
performance.

• Aggregate Adjustment for Income Taxes — The aggregate adjustment for income taxes is the estimated combined income tax effect for the adjustments
described above, as well as an adjustment for discrete tax items. Due to the variability in recognition of discrete tax items from period to period, we
believe that excluding these benefits or charges for purposes of calculating non-GAAP net income facilitates a more meaningful evaluation of our current
operating performance and comparisons to our past operating performance. The tax effects are determined based on the tax jurisdictions where the above
items were incurred.
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The table below presents a reconciliation of each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable GAAP measure for each of the periods
presented:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  % Change  May 4, 2018

 (in millions, except percentages)
Product net revenue $ 16,754  —%  $ 16,671

Non-GAAP adjustments:      
Impact of purchase accounting 4    17

Non-GAAP product net revenue $ 16,758  —%  $ 16,688

      

Services net revenue $ 5,154  10%  $ 4,685
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Impact of purchase accounting 78    170

Non-GAAP services net revenue $ 5,232  8%  $ 4,855

      

Net revenue $ 21,908  3%  $ 21,356
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Impact of purchase accounting 82    187

Non-GAAP net revenue $ 21,990  2%  $ 21,543

      

Product gross margin $ 3,675  20%  $ 3,065
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Amortization of intangibles 519    710
Impact of purchase accounting 6    23
Transaction-related expenses (2)    116
Stock-based compensation expense 2    2
Other corporate expenses 4    2

Non-GAAP product gross margin $ 4,204  7%  $ 3,918

      

Services gross margin $ 3,122  11%  $ 2,813
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Impact of purchase accounting 78    170
Transaction-related expenses (3)    —
Stock-based compensation expense 24    14
Other corporate expenses 9    4

Non-GAAP services gross margin $ 3,230  8%  $ 3,001
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 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  % Change  May 4, 2018

 (in millions, except percentages)
Gross margin $ 6,797  16%  $ 5,878

Non-GAAP adjustments:      
Amortization of intangibles 519    710
Impact of purchase accounting 84    193
Transaction-related expenses (5)    116
Stock-based compensation expense 26    16
Other corporate expenses 13    6

Non-GAAP gross margin $ 7,434  7%  $ 6,919

      

Operating expenses $ 6,247  4%  $ 6,031
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Amortization of intangibles (698)    (812)
Impact of purchase accounting (17)    (29)
Transaction-related expenses (47)    (50)
Stock-based compensation expense (237)    (183)
Other corporate expenses (10)    (64)

Non-GAAP operating expenses $ 5,238  7%  $ 4,893

      

Operating income (loss) $ 550  459%  $ (153)
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Amortization of intangibles 1,217    1,522
Impact of purchase accounting 101    222
Transaction-related expenses 42    166
Stock-based compensation expense 263    199
Other corporate expenses 23    70

Non-GAAP operating income $ 2,196  8%  $ 2,026

      

Net income (loss) $ 329  161%  $ (538)
Non-GAAP adjustments:      

Amortization of intangibles 1,217    1,522
Impact of purchase accounting 101    222
Transaction-related expenses 42    166
Stock-based compensation expense 263    199
Other corporate expenses 23    70
Fair value adjustments on equity investments (62)    (107)
Aggregate adjustment for income taxes (704)    (355)

Non-GAAP net income (a)
$ 1,209  3%  $ 1,179

_________________
(a) Non-GAAP net income has been recast to exclude fair value adjustments on equity investments, the corresponding tax effects of those adjustments, and

discrete tax items.
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In addition to the above measures, we also use EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to provide additional information for evaluation of our operating performance.
Adjusted EBITDA excludes purchase accounting adjustments related to the EMC merger transaction and the going-private transaction, acquisition,
integration, and divestiture related costs, severance, facility action, and other costs, and stock-based compensation expense. We believe that, due to the non-
operational nature of the purchase accounting entries, it is appropriate to exclude these adjustments.

As is the case with the non-GAAP measures presented above, users should consider the limitations of using EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, including the
fact that those measures do not provide a complete measure of our operating performance. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA do not purport to be alternatives to
net income (loss) as measures of operating performance or to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. In particular, EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA are not intended to be a measure of free cash flow available for management’s discretionary use, as these measures do not consider certain
cash requirements, such as working capital needs, capital expenditures, contractual commitments, interest payments, tax payments, and other debt service
requirements.

The table below presents a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to net loss for the periods presented:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  % Change  May 4, 2018

 (in millions, except percentages)
Net income (loss) $ 329  161%  $ (538)

Adjustments:      
Interest and other, net (a) 693    470
Income tax benefit (472)    (85)
Depreciation and amortization 1,616    1,914

EBITDA $ 2,166  23%  $ 1,761

      

EBITDA $ 2,166  23%  $ 1,761
Adjustments:      

Stock-based compensation expense 263    199
Impact of purchase accounting (b) 83    222
Transaction-related expenses (c) 42    166
Other corporate expenses (d) 19    35

Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,573  8%  $ 2,383
____________________
(a) See “Results of Operations — Interest and Other, Net” for more information on the components of interest and other, net.
(b) This amount includes the non-cash purchase accounting adjustments related to the EMC merger transaction and the going-private transaction.
(c) Transaction-related expenses consist of acquisition, integration, and divestiture related costs.
(d) Consists of severance, facility action, and other costs.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Results

The following table summarizes our consolidated results for each of the periods presented. Unless otherwise indicated, all changes identified for the current
period results represent comparisons to results for the prior corresponding fiscal period.

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019    May 4, 2018

 Dollars  
% of

Net Revenue  
%

Change  Dollars  
% of

Net Revenue

 (in millions, except percentages)

Net revenue:          
Product $ 16,754  76.5%  —%  $ 16,671  78.1 %
Services 5,154  23.5%  10%  4,685  21.9 %

Total net revenue $ 21,908  100.0%  3%  $ 21,356  100.0 %
Gross margin:          
Product (a) $ 3,675  21.9%  20%  $ 3,065  18.4 %
Services (b) 3,122  60.6%  11%  2,813  60.0 %

Total gross margin $ 6,797  31.0%  16%  $ 5,878  27.5 %
Operating expenses $ 6,247  28.5%  4%  $ 6,031  28.2 %
Operating income (loss) $ 550  2.5%  459%  $ (153)  (0.7)%
Net income (loss) $ 329  1.5%  161%  $ (538)  (2.5)%
Net income (loss) attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. $ 293  1.3%  146%  $ (636)  (3.0)%
          

Non-GAAP Financial Information         
Non-GAAP net revenue:          
Product $ 16,758  76.2%  —%  $ 16,688  77.5 %
Services 5,232  23.8%  8%  4,855  22.5 %

Total non-GAAP net revenue $ 21,990  100.0%  2%  $ 21,543  100.0 %
Non-GAAP gross margin:          
Product (a) $ 4,204  25.1%  7%  $ 3,918  23.5 %
Services (b) 3,230  61.7%  8%  3,001  61.8 %

Total non-GAAP gross margin $ 7,434  33.8%  7%  $ 6,919  32.1 %
Non-GAAP operating expenses $ 5,238  23.8%  7%  $ 4,893  22.7 %
Non-GAAP operating income $ 2,196  10.0%  8%  $ 2,026  9.4 %
Non-GAAP net income (c) $ 1,209  5.5%  3%  $ 1,179  5.5 %
EBITDA $ 2,166  9.8%  23%  $ 1,761  8.2 %
Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,573  11.7%  8%  $ 2,383  11.1 %
____________________
(a) Product gross margin percentages represent product gross margin as a percentage of product net revenue, and non-GAAP product gross margin

percentages represent non-GAAP product gross margin as a percentage of non-GAAP product net revenue.
(b) Services gross margin percentages represent services gross margin as a percentage of services net revenue, and non-GAAP services gross margin

percentages represent non-GAAP services gross margin as a percentage of non-GAAP services net revenue.
(c) Non-GAAP net income has been recast to exclude fair value adjustments on equity investments, the corresponding tax effects of those adjustments, and

discrete tax items.
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Non-GAAP product net revenue, non-GAAP services net revenue, non-GAAP net revenue, non-GAAP product gross margin, non-GAAP services gross
margin, non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net income, EBITDA, and adjusted EBITDA are
not measurements of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. Non-GAAP financial measures as a percentage of net revenue are calculated
based on non-GAAP net revenue. See “Non‑GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about these non-GAAP financial measures, including our
reasons for including these measures, material limitations with respect to the usefulness of the measures, and a reconciliation of each non-GAAP financial
measure to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.

Overview

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, our net revenue and non-GAAP net revenue increased 3% and 2%, respectively. The increases in net revenue and non-
GAAP net revenue were attributable to increases in net revenue in CSG and VMware. We believe we are well-positioned for long-term profitable growth
while also maintaining the ability to adjust as needed to changing market conditions with the complementary solutions across our businesses.

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, our operating income was $550 million and our operating loss was $153 million, respectively. The
increase in our operating income for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable to a decrease in amortization of intangible assets and purchase
accounting adjustments related to the EMC merger transaction and an increase in operating income for CSG.

Amortization of intangible assets and purchase accounting adjustments that impacted operating income totaled $1.3 billion and $1.7 billion for the first
quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. Excluding these costs, stock-based compensation expense, transaction-related expenses, and other
corporate expenses, non-GAAP operating income increased 8% to $2.2 billion during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020. The increase in non-GAAP operating
income for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily due to an increase in operating income for CSG.

Cash provided by operating activities was $0.7 billion during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 compared to $1.2 billion for the first quarter of Fiscal 2019. The
decrease in operating cash flows during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily driven by higher seasonal personnel payments, partially offset by
improved profitability. See “Market Conditions, Liquidity, and Capital Commitments” for further information on our cash flow metrics.

Net Revenue

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, our net revenue and non-GAAP net revenue increased 3% and 2%, respectively. The increases in net revenue and non-
GAAP net revenue were attributable to increases in net revenue in CSG and VMware. See “Business Unit Results” for further information.

• Product Net Revenue — Product net revenue includes revenue from the sale of hardware products and software licenses. During the first quarter of Fiscal
2020, both product net revenue and non-GAAP product net revenue remained consistent with the first quarter of Fiscal 2019.

• Services Net Revenue — Services net revenue includes revenue from our services offerings and support services related to hardware products and
software licenses. During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, services net revenue and non-GAAP services net revenue increased 10% and 8%, respectively.
These increases were primarily due to an increase in services revenue for hardware support and deployment and software maintenance due to growth in
the business. A portion of services net revenue is derived from offerings that have been deferred over a period of time, and, as a result, reported services
net revenue growth rates will be different than product net revenue growth rates.

From a geographical perspective, net revenue generated by sales to customers in the Americas and EMEA increased during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020
due to strong performance globally in CSG and VMware. Net revenue from sales to customers in APJ remained essentially unchanged during the first quarter
of Fiscal 2020.
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Gross Margin

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, our gross margin increased 16% to $6.8 billion, and our gross margin percentage increased 350 basis points to 31.0%.
The increase in our gross margin percentage during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable to a decrease in amortization of intangibles and
purchase accounting adjustments, a deflationary component cost environment, and increases in gross margin percentage for both ISG and CSG.

Our gross margin for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 included the impact of amortization of intangibles and purchase accounting adjustments
of $0.6 billion and $0.9 billion, respectively. Excluding these costs, transaction-related expenses, stock-based compensation expense, and other corporate
expenses, non-GAAP gross margin for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 increased 7% to $7.4 billion, and non-GAAP gross margin percentage increased 170
basis points to 33.8%. The increase in our non-GAAP gross margin was attributable to increases in gross margin across all three business units. The increase
in our non-GAAP gross margin percentage was primarily due to higher gross margin percentage for both ISG and CSG, as well as the positive impact of
VMware’s relative mix of gross margin on our consolidated results.

• Products — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, product gross margin increased 20% to $3.7 billion, and product gross margin percentage increased
350 basis points to 21.9%. The increases in both product gross margin and product gross margin percentage were primarily attributable to a decrease in
amortization of intangibles and transaction-related expenses. During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, non-GAAP product gross margin increased 7% to
$4.2 billion, and non-GAAP product gross margin percentage increased 160 basis points to 25.1%. The increases in product gross margin and non-GAAP
product gross margin were driven primarily by increases in product revenue due to strength in sales of CSG commercial products and VMware software
licenses. Product gross margin percentage and non-GAAP product gross margin percentage increased primarily as a result of higher product gross margin
percentages for ISG and CSG, as well as the positive impact of VMware’s relative mix of gross margin percentage on our consolidated results.

• Services — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, services gross margin increased 11% to $3.1 billion, and services gross margin percentage increased
60 basis points to 60.6%. Services gross margin increased due to growth in services gross margin across all three business units, particularly in hardware
support and deployment and software maintenance. During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, services gross margin also benefited from a
decrease in purchase accounting adjustments, which totaled $78 million and $170 million, respectively. Excluding these costs, transaction-related
expenses, stock-based compensation expense, and other corporate expenses, non-GAAP services gross margin increased 8% to $3.2 billion, and non-
GAAP services gross margin percentage decreased 10 basis points to 61.7%.

Vendor Programs and Settlements

Our gross margin is affected by our ability to achieve competitive pricing with our vendors and contract manufacturers, including through our negotiation of a
variety of vendor rebate programs to achieve lower net costs for the various components we include in our products. Under these programs, vendors provide
us with rebates or other discounts from the list prices for the components, which are generally elements of their pricing strategy. We account for vendor
rebates and other discounts as a reduction in cost of net revenue. We manage our costs on a total net cost basis, which includes supplier list prices reduced by
vendor rebates and other discounts.

The terms and conditions of our vendor rebate programs are largely based on product volumes and are generally negotiated either at the beginning of the
annual or quarterly period, depending on the program. The timing and amount of vendor rebates and other discounts we receive under the programs may vary
from period to period, reflecting changes in the competitive environment. We monitor our component costs and seek to address the effects of any changes to
terms that might arise under our vendor rebate programs. Our gross margins for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 were not materially affected
by any changes to the terms of our vendor rebate programs, as the amounts we received under these programs were generally stable relative to our total net
cost. We are not aware of any significant changes to vendor pricing or rebate programs that may impact our results in the near term.

In addition, we have pursued legal action against certain vendors and are currently involved in negotiations with other vendors regarding their past pricing
practices. We have negotiated settlements with some of these vendors and may have additional settlements in future periods. These settlements are allocated
to our segments based on the relative amount of affected vendor products sold by each segment.
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents information regarding our operating expenses during each of the periods presented:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019    May 4, 2018

 Dollars  
% of

Net Revenue  
%

Change  Dollars  
% of

Net Revenue

 (in millions, except percentages)

Operating expenses:          
Selling, general, and administrative $ 5,071  23.1%  3%  $ 4,944  23.1%
Research and development 1,176  5.4%  8%  1,087  5.1%

Total operating expenses $ 6,247  28.5%  4%  $ 6,031  28.2%

          

Other Financial Information         
Non-GAAP operating expenses $ 5,238  23.8%  7%  $ 4,893  22.7%

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, total operating expenses increased 4%. Our operating expenses include the impact of purchase accounting,
amortization of intangible assets, transaction-related expenses, stock-based compensation expense, and other corporate expenses. In aggregate, these items
totaled $1.0 billion and $1.1 billion for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. Excluding these costs, total non-GAAP operating
expenses for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 increased 7%. The increases in operating expenses and non-GAAP operating expenses were primarily due to an
increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses associated with our revenue growth and sales headcount.

• Selling, General, and Administrative — Selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses increased 3% during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020.
The increases in SG&A expenses were primarily driven by investments in our go-to-market capabilities, including sales headcount, and higher
performance-based compensation and commission costs.

• Research and Development — Research and development (“R&D”) expenses are primarily composed of personnel-related expenses related to product
development. R&D expenses as a percentage of net revenue for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 were approximately 5.4% and 5.1%,
respectively. As our industry continues to change and as the needs of our customers evolve, we intend to support R&D initiatives to innovate and
introduce new and enhanced solutions into the market.

We continue to make investments designed to enable growth, particularly in our sales force, marketing, and R&D, while balancing our efforts to drive cost
efficiencies in the business. We also expect to continue to make investments in support of our own digital transformation to modernize and streamline our IT
operations.
  
Operating Income/Loss

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, our operating income increased 459% to $550 million. The increase in our operating income for the first quarter of
Fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable to a decrease in amortization of intangible assets and purchase accounting adjustments and an increase in operating
income for CSG.

Amortization of intangible assets and purchase accounting adjustments that impacted operating income totaled $1.3 billion and $1.7 billion for the first
quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, respectively. Excluding these costs, transaction-related expenses, stock-based compensation expense, and other
corporate expenses, non-GAAP operating income increased 8% to $2.2 billion during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020. The increase in non-GAAP operating
income for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily due to an increase in operating income for CSG.
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Interest and Other, Net

The following table provides information regarding interest and other, net for each of the periods presented:

 Three Months Ended

 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018
 (in millions)

Interest and other, net:    
Investment income, primarily interest $ 44  $ 78
Gain (loss) on investments, net 62  107
Interest expense (699)  (596)
Foreign exchange (45)  (77)
Other (55)  18

Total interest and other, net $ (693)  $ (470)

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, the change in interest and other, net was unfavorable by $223 million, primarily due to higher interest expense. To
fund a portion of the cash consideration paid in the Class V transaction, we incurred additional debt and liquidated a significant amount of our investments.
As a result, we expect higher interest expense and lower investment income to continue in Fiscal 2020. See Note 3 and Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for further information regarding our investments and debt, respectively.

Income and Other Taxes

Our income tax rates were 330.1% and 13.6% on pre-tax losses of $143 million and $623 million for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019,
respectively. The change in our effective tax rate is primarily driven by discrete tax benefits and a change in our jurisdictional mix of income. During the first
quarter of Fiscal 2020, our effective tax rate includes a discrete tax benefit for $405 million resulting from an intra-entity asset transfer that was completed
during the quarter. The tax benefit represents the future amortization we will be able to realize over a period of no more than 15 years and is recorded as a
deferred tax asset in the period of the transaction. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of Fiscal 2019 includes $154 million of discrete tax benefits
resulting from the impact of our adoption during the quarter of the new revenue recognition standard. On May 31, 2019, our VMware business unit
transferred certain of its intellectual property to its Irish subsidiary.  In the second quarter of Fiscal 2020, we will record a discrete tax benefit of
approximately $4.5 billion for this transaction that represents the future amortization we will be able to realize for this intellectual property.  For further
discussion regarding tax matters, see Note 11 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“U.S. Tax Reform”) was signed into law on December 22, 2017.  Among other things, U.S. Tax Reform lowers the U.S.
corporate income tax rate to 21% from 35%, establishes a modified territorial system requiring a mandatory deemed repatriation tax on undistributed earnings
of foreign subsidiaries (the “Transition Tax”), requires a minimum tax on certain future earnings generated by foreign subsidiaries while providing for future
tax-free repatriation of earnings through a 100% dividends-received deduction, and places limitations on the deductibility of net interest expense. We
anticipate that the U.S. Department of the Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) will continue to issue regulatory guidance clarifying certain
provisions of U.S. Tax Reform.  When additional guidance is issued, we will recognize the related tax impact in the fiscal quarter of such issuance.

Our effective income tax rate can fluctuate depending on the geographic distribution of our worldwide earnings, as our foreign earnings are generally taxed at
lower rates than in the United States. The differences between our effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% principally result from
the geographical distribution of income and differences between the book and tax treatment of certain items. In certain jurisdictions, our tax rate is
significantly less than the applicable statutory rate as a result of tax holidays. The majority of our foreign income that is subject to these tax holidays and
lower tax rates is attributable to Singapore, China, and Malaysia. A significant portion of these income tax benefits relates to a tax holiday that will be
effective until January 31, 2029.  Our other tax holidays will expire in whole or in part during Fiscal 2022 through Fiscal 2030. Many of these tax holidays
and reduced tax rates may be extended when certain conditions are met or may be terminated early if certain conditions are not met.
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For further discussion regarding tax matters, including the status of income tax audits, see Note 11 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this report.

Net Income/Loss

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, net income increased 161% to $329 million. The increase in net income during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was
primarily attributable to an increase in operating income and, to a lesser extent, an increase in tax benefit, which was partially offset by an increase in interest
and other, net expense.

Net income for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 included amortization of intangible assets, the impact of purchase accounting, transaction-related expenses,
stock-based compensation expense, other corporate expenses, fair value adjustments on equity investments, and discrete tax items. Excluding these costs and
the related tax impacts, non-GAAP net income increased 3% to $1.2 billion during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020. The increase in non-GAAP net income
during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable to an increase in operating income, which was partially offset by an increase in interest and
other, net expense.

Non-controlling Interests

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, net income attributable to non-controlling interests was $36 million, compared to net income attributable to non-
controlling interests of $98 million during the first quarter of Fiscal 2019. Net income or loss attributable to non-controlling interests consisted of net income
or loss attributable to our non-controlling interests in VMware, Inc., Pivotal, and Secureworks. For more information about our non-controlling interests,
see Note 13 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Dell Technologies Inc.

Net income (loss) attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. represents net income (loss) and an adjustment for non-controlling interests. During the first quarter
of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, net income attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. was $293 million and net loss attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. was
$636 million, respectively. The increase in net income attributable to Dell Technologies Inc. during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable
to an increase in net income for the period.
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Business Unit Results

Our reportable segments are based on the following business units: ISG, CSG, and VMware. A description of our three business units is provided under
“Introduction.” See Note 18 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for a reconciliation of net revenue and
operating income by reportable segment to consolidated net revenue and consolidated operating loss, respectively.

Infrastructure Solutions Group

The following table presents net revenue and operating income attributable to ISG for the respective periods:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  % Change  May 4, 2018
 (in millions, except percentages)
Net revenue:      

Servers and networking $ 4,180  (9)%  $ 4,585
Storage 4,022  (1)%  4,082

Total ISG net revenue $ 8,202  (5)%  $ 8,667
      

Operating income:      
ISG operating income $ 843  (10)%  $ 939
% of segment net revenue 10.3%    10.8%

Net Revenue — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, ISG net revenue decreased 5% primarily due to a decrease in sales of servers and networking. Revenue
from servers and networking decreased 9% the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, driven by a decline in units sold of our PowerEdge servers due to a weaker
demand environment. Certain competitive dynamics also contributed to lower server volumes during the quarter, as we focused on profitability above net
revenue growth. The impact of the lower volume of PowerEdge sales was partially mitigated by an increase in average selling prices due to the sale of servers
with more robust compute capacity and higher memory and storage content, which was driven by customer demand for servers that enable big data analytics.
Storage revenue remained relatively flat during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 compared to the strong performance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2019. We
continue to make go-to-market investments and enhancements to our storage solutions offerings and expect that these investments will drive long-term
improvements in the business. Component costs were deflationary in the aggregate for ISG during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, and we continue to monitor
our pricing in response to changes in the component cost environment. We expect the aggregate ISG component cost environment to continue to be
deflationary in the near term.

In ISG, we continue to see interest in flexible consumption models by our customers as they seek to build greater flexibility into their cost structures. We
generally provide these solutions under multi-year contracts that typically result in recognition of revenue over the term of the arrangement. We expect these
flexible consumption models will further strengthen our customer relationships and will build more predictable revenue streams over time.

From a geographical perspective, net revenue attributable to ISG increased in EMEA, decreased slightly in the Americas, and decreased in APJ during the
first quarter of Fiscal 2020.

Operating Income — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, ISG operating income as a percentage of net revenue decreased 50 basis points to 10.3%
primarily due to an increase in operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue, partially offset by an increase in ISG gross margin percentage. Our
continued investments in go-to-market capabilities and solutions offerings outpaced revenue growth, and, as a result, operating expenses increased as a
percentage of net revenue. ISG gross margin percentage improved due to higher average selling prices and the deflationary cost environment as referred to
above.
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Client Solutions Group

The following table presents net revenue and operating income attributable to CSG for the respective periods:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  % Change  May 4, 2018
 (in millions, except percentages)
Net revenue:      

Commercial $ 8,307  13%  $ 7,363
Consumer 2,603  (10)%  2,908

Total CSG net revenue $ 10,910  6%  $ 10,271
      

Operating income:      
CSG operating income $ 793  49%  $ 533
% of segment net revenue 7.3%    5.2%

Net Revenue — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, CSG net revenue increased 6% due to continued strong demand for our commercial products across all
product categories. Consumer revenue decreased 10% due to lower demand for notebooks, which was partially offset by higher average selling prices as we
experienced a shift in product mix to higher-priced consumer notebooks. The aggregate CSG component cost environment was deflationary in the first
quarter of Fiscal 2020, and we expect deflationary conditions to continue in the near term.

From a geographical perspective, net revenue attributable to CSG increased across all regions during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020.

Operating Income — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, CSG operating income as a percentage of net revenue increased 210 basis points to 7.3%. The
increase was primarily due to lower component costs that positively impacted CSG gross margin and a shift in product mix to higher margin product
offerings.

VMware

The following table presents net revenue and operating income attributable to VMware for the respective periods:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  % Change  May 4, 2018
 (in millions, except percentages)
Net revenue:      

VMware net revenue $ 2,282  13%  $ 2,028
      

Operating income:      
VMware operating income $ 614  —%  $ 613
% of segment net revenue 26.9%    30.2%

Net Revenue — VMware net revenue primarily consists of revenue from the sale of software licenses under perpetual licenses, related software maintenance
and support, training, consulting services, and hosted services. VMware net revenue during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 increased 13% primarily due to
growth in software license revenue and sales of software maintenance services. Software license revenue reflected broad-based growth across the product
portfolio. Software maintenance revenue benefited from strong renewals, revenue recognized from maintenance contracts sold in prior periods, and new
maintenance contracts sold during the period.
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From a geographical perspective, approximately half of VMware net revenue during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was generated by sales to customers in the
United States. VMware net revenue for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was positively affected by growth across U.S. and international markets.

Operating Income — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, VMware operating income as a percentage of net revenue decreased 330 basis points to 26.9%.
The decrease was driven by an increase in operating expenses as a percentage of net revenue due to an increase in compensation-related expense associated
with sales and sales support, primarily due to increased headcount, as well as to an increase in R&D expenses.
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OTHER BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Accounts Receivable

We sell products and services directly to customers and through a variety of sales channels, including retail distribution. Our accounts receivable, net, was
$10.5 billion and $12.4 billion as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, respectively. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to cover receivables
that may be deemed uncollectible. The allowance for losses is based on a provision for accounts that are collectively evaluated based on historical bad debt
experience as well as specific identifiable customer accounts that are deemed at risk. As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the allowance for doubtful
accounts was $79 million and $85 million, respectively. Based on our assessment, we believe that we are adequately reserved for expected credit losses. We
monitor the aging of our accounts receivable and continue to take actions to reduce our exposure to credit losses.

Dell Financial Services

Dell Financial Services and its affiliates (“DFS”) support Dell Technologies by offering and arranging various financing options and services for our
customers globally, including through captive financing operations in North America, Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. DFS originates, collects, and
services customer receivables primarily related to the purchase of our product, software, and service solutions. DFS further strengthens our customer
relationships through its flexible consumption models, which enable us to offer our customers the option to pay over time and, in certain cases, based on
utilization, to provide them with financial flexibility to meet their changing technological requirements. New financing originations were $1.7 billion for both
the three months ended May 3, 2019 and May 4, 2018.

As of February 2, 2019, we adopted the new lease standard discussed in Note 1 and Note 2 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this report. The adoption of the new lease standard did not result in a change to leases that commenced prior to adoption. For new leases that
commenced subsequent to the adoption of the new lease standard, DFS accounts for the leases as sales-type leases, direct financing leases, or operating leases
depending on lease classification guidance. Amounts due from lessees under sales-type leases or direct financing leases are recorded as part of financing
receivables, with interest income recognized over the contract term. On commencement of sales-type leases, we typically qualify for up front revenue
recognition. On originations of operating leases, we record equipment under operating leases, classified as property, plant, and equipment, and recognize
rental revenue and depreciation expense, classified as cost of net revenue, over the contract term. Direct financing leases under the new lease standard are
immaterial.

As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, our financing receivables, net were $8.4 billion and $8.6 billion, respectively. We maintain an allowance to cover
expected financing receivable credit losses and evaluate credit loss expectations based on our total portfolio. For the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal
2019, the principal charge-off rate for our total portfolio was 1.0% and 1.2%, respectively. The credit quality of our financing receivables has improved in
recent years due to an overall improvement in the credit environment and as the mix of high-quality commercial accounts in our portfolio has continued to
increase. We continue to monitor broader economic indicators and their potential impact on future loss performance. We have an extensive process to manage
our exposure to customer credit risk, including active management of credit lines and our collection activities. We also sell selected fixed-term financing
receivables to unrelated third parties on a periodic basis, primarily to manage certain concentrations of customer credit exposure.  Based on our assessment of
the customer financing receivables, we believe that we are adequately reserved.

We retain a residual interest in equipment leased under our lease programs. As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, the residual interest recorded as part of
financing receivables was $661 million and $674 million, respectively. The amount of the residual interest is established at the inception of the lease based
upon estimates of the value of the equipment at the end of the lease term using historical studies, industry data, and future value-at-risk demand valuation
methods. On a quarterly basis, we assess the carrying amount of our recorded residual values for impairment. Generally, residual value risk on equipment
under lease is not considered to be significant, because of the existence of a secondary market with respect to the equipment. The lease agreement also clearly
defines applicable return conditions and remedies for non-compliance, to ensure that the leased equipment will be in good operating condition upon return.
Model changes and updates, as well as market strength and product acceptance, are monitored and adjustments are made to residual values in accordance with
the significance of any such changes. Our remarketing sales staff works closely with customers and dealers to manage the sale of lease returns and the
recovery of residual exposure. No impairment losses were recorded related to residual assets during the three months ended May 3, 2019.

79



Table of Contents

As of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019, equipment under operating leases, net was $274 million and $3 million, respectively. The increase in equipment
under operating leases, net is due to our adoption of the new lease standard and the elimination of the third-party residual value guarantee insurance in the
lease classification test for sales-type leases. Based on triggering events, we assess the carrying amount of the equipment under operating leases recorded for
impairment. No impairment losses were recorded related to such equipment during the three months ended May 3, 2019.

DFS offerings are initially funded through cash on hand at the time of origination, most of which is subsequently replaced with third-party financing. As a
result, while the initial funding of financing receivables is reflected as an impact to cash flows from operations, this funding is largely subsequently offset by
cash flows from financing. Additionally, as a result of our adoption of the new leasing standard on lessor accounting, the increase to future originations of
operating leases results in a shift from financing receivables to capital expenditures, which benefits our cash flows provided by operating activities by the
increase in capital expenditures being reported as cash flows used in investing activities.

See Note 4 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for additional information about our financing receivables
and the equipment under operating leases.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of May 3, 2019, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial
condition or results of operations.
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MARKET CONDITIONS, LIQUIDITY, AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Market Conditions

We regularly monitor economic conditions and associated impacts on the financial markets and our business. We consistently evaluate the financial health of
our supplier base, carefully manage customer credit, diversify counterparty risk, and monitor the concentration risk of our cash and cash equivalents balances
globally. We routinely monitor our financial exposure to borrowers and counterparties.

We monitor credit risk associated with our financial counterparties using various market credit risk indicators such as credit ratings issued by nationally
recognized credit rating agencies and changes in market credit default swap levels. We perform periodic evaluations of our positions with these counterparties
and may limit exposure to any one counterparty in accordance with our policies. We monitor and manage these activities depending on current and expected
market developments.

We use derivative instruments to hedge certain foreign currency exposures. We use forward contracts and purchased options designated as cash flow hedges
to protect against the foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent in our forecasted transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.  In
addition, we primarily use forward contracts and may use purchased options to hedge monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency.  See
Note 7 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for more information about our use of derivative instruments.

We are exposed to interest rate risk related to our variable-rate debt and investment portfolio. In the normal course of business, we follow established policies
and procedures to manage this risk, including monitoring of our asset and liability mix. As a result, we do not anticipate any material losses from interest rate
risk.

The impact of any credit adjustments related to our use of counterparties on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report has
been immaterial.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To support our ongoing business operations, we rely on operating cash flows as our primary source of liquidity. We monitor the efficiency of our balance
sheet to ensure that we have adequate liquidity to support our strategic initiatives. In addition to internally generated cash, we have access to other capital
sources to finance our strategic initiatives and fund growth in our financing operations. As of May 3, 2019, we had $9.0 billion of total cash and cash
equivalents. Our strategy is to deploy capital from any potential source, whether internally generated cash or debt, depending on the adequacy and availability
of that source of capital and whether it can be accessed in a cost-effective manner.

A significant portion of our income is earned in non-U.S. jurisdictions.  Prior to the enactment of U.S. Tax Reform as discussed above in “Results of
Operations — Income and Other Taxes,” earnings available to be repatriated to the United States would be subject to U.S. federal income tax, less applicable
foreign tax credits.  U.S. Tax Reform fundamentally changes the U.S. approach to taxation of foreign earnings to a modified territorial tax system, which
generally allows companies to make distributions of non-U.S. earnings to the United States without incurring additional U.S. federal tax.  However, local and
U.S. state taxes may still apply. We have provided for future tax liabilities on income earned in non-U.S. jurisdictions, except for foreign earnings that are
considered indefinitely reinvested outside of the United States.

During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2019, as discussed above in “Introduction — Class V Transaction,” we completed a transaction in which all issued and
outstanding shares of our Class V Common Stock were exchanged for cash or shares of Class C Common Stock at the stockholder’s election. We paid a total
of $14 billion of cash to holders of Class V Common Stock.
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To fund a majority of the cash payment to stockholders, VMware, Inc. declared a conditional $11 billion one-time special cash dividend (the “Special
Dividend”), which was paid pro-rata to VMware, Inc. stockholders as of the dividend record date of December 27, 2018 and in connection with the
completion of the Class V transaction. Our cash, cash equivalents, and investments declined significantly, commensurate with the cash required to fund this
transaction. VMware, Inc. has advised us that, following its payment of the Special Dividend, VMware, Inc. will remain committed to a balanced capital
allocation policy through investment in its product and solutions offerings, acquisitions, and returning capital to its stockholders through share repurchases.
During the three months ended May 3, 2019, VMware, Inc. repurchased 3.3 million shares of its Class A common stock in the open market for approximately
$591 million. During the three months ended May 4, 2018, VMware, Inc. did not repurchase any shares of its Class A common stock.

We funded a majority of the cash consideration paid in the Class V transaction from the $8.87 billion of the proceeds of the Special Dividend. The remaining
amount of the cash consideration was primarily funded with $3.67 billion of proceeds from new senior secured term loans under our senior secured credit
facilities and proceeds of a margin loan financing in an aggregate principal amount of $1.35 billion. See Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this report for information about the debt we incurred to finance the Class V transaction.

The following table summarizes our cash and cash equivalents as well as our available borrowings as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents, and available borrowings:    

Cash and cash equivalents (a) $ 9,040  $ 9,676
Remaining available borrowings under revolving credit facilities 6,086  5,586

Total cash, cash equivalents, and available borrowings $ 15,126  $ 15,262
____________________
(a) Of the $9.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents as of May 3, 2019, $3.3 billion was held by VMware, Inc.

Our revolving credit facilities include the Revolving Credit Facility and the China Revolving Credit Facility, which we renewed during the first quarter of
Fiscal 2020. The Revolving Credit Facility and the China Revolving Credit Facility have maximum aggregate borrowings of $4.5 billion and $0.5 billion,
respectively. Available borrowings under these facilities are reduced by draws on the facility and, under the Revolving Credit Facility, outstanding letters of
credit. As of May 3, 2019, there were no borrowings outstanding under the facilities and remaining available borrowings totaled approximately $5.0 billion.
We may regularly use our available borrowings from both our Revolving Credit Facility and our China Revolving Credit Facility on a short-term basis for
general corporate purposes.

The VMware Revolving Credit Facility and the Pivotal Revolving Credit Facility have maximum aggregate borrowings of $1.0 billion and $100 million,
respectively. None of the net proceeds of such borrowings will be made available to support the operations or satisfy any corporate purposes of Dell
Technologies, other than the operations and corporate purposes of VMware, Inc., Pivotal, and their respective subsidiaries under the applicable facility. As of
May 3, 2019, $1.0 billion was available under the VMware Revolving Credit Facility and $100 million was available under the Pivotal Revolving Credit
Facility.

See Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for additional information about each of the foregoing
revolving credit facilities.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents, together with cash that will be provided by future operations and expected borrowings under our
revolving credit facilities, will be sufficient over at least the next twelve months to fund our operations, debt service requirements and maturities, capital
expenditures, share repurchases, and other corporate needs.
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Debt

The following table summarizes our outstanding debt as of May 3, 2019 and February 1, 2019:

 May 3, 2019  February 1, 2019
 (in millions)
Restricted Subsidiary Debt    

Core debt:    
Senior Secured Credit Facilities and First Lien Notes $ 31,665  $ 32,720
Unsecured Notes and Debentures 1,952  1,952
Senior Notes 3,250  3,250
EMC Notes 3,000  3,000
DFS allocated debt (1,263)  (1,615)

Total core debt 38,604  39,307
DFS related debt:    

DFS debt 6,343  5,929
DFS allocated debt 1,263  1,615

Total DFS related debt 7,606  7,544
Margin Loan and Other 4,027  3,388

Unrestricted Subsidiary Debt    
VMware Notes 4,000  4,000
Other —  —

Total unrestricted subsidiary debt 4,000  4,000
Total debt, principal amount 54,237  54,239
Carrying value adjustments (713)  (718)

Total debt, carrying value $ 53,524  $ 53,521

The outstanding principal amount of our debt was $54.2 billion as of May 3, 2019, which included core debt of $38.6 billion. We define core debt as the total
principal amount of our debt, less DFS related debt, our margin loan and other debt, and unrestricted subsidiary debt.

DFS related debt primarily represents debt from our securitization and structured financing programs. To fund expansion of the DFS business, we balance the
use of the securitization and structured financing programs with other sources of liquidity. We approximate the amount of our debt used to fund the DFS
business by applying a 7:1 debt to equity ratio to the sum of our financing receivables balance and the future maturities of our DFS operating lease assets,
based on the underlying credit quality of the assets. See Note 4 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for
more information about our DFS debt.

As of May 3, 2019, margin loan and other debt primarily consisted of the $4.0 billion Margin Loan Facility.

VMware, Inc., Pivotal, and their respective subsidiaries are unrestricted subsidiaries for purposes of the existing debt of Dell Technologies.  Neither Dell
Technologies nor any of its subsidiaries, other than VMware, Inc., is obligated to make payment on the VMware Notes.  None of the net proceeds of the
VMware Notes will be made available to support the operations or satisfy any corporate purposes of Dell Technologies, other than the operations and
corporate purposes of VMware, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
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Our requirements for cash to pay principal and interest on our debt increased significantly due to the borrowings we incurred to finance the EMC merger
transaction, and to a lesser extent, the Class V transaction. We have made good progress in paying down core debt since the EMC merger transaction. We
believe we will continue to be able to make our debt principal and interest payments, including the short-term maturities, from existing and expected sources
of cash. Cash used for debt principal and interest payments may include short-term borrowings under our revolving credit facilities. We will continue to focus
on paying down core debt. We expect that continued demand for customer financing as well as an increase in LIBOR will impact future interest expense on
our variable-rate debt. We or our affiliates or their related persons, at our or their sole discretion, may purchase, redeem, prepay, refinance, or otherwise retire
any amount of our outstanding indebtedness under the terms of such indebtedness at any time and from time to time, in open market or negotiated
transactions with the holders of such indebtedness or otherwise, as appropriate market conditions exist.

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, we incurred new long-term debt to complete two refinancing transactions. We issued multiple series of First Lien
Notes (the “new First Lien Notes”) totaling approximately $4.5 billion and increased the aggregate principal amount of borrowings under our Margin Loan
Facility by $650 million. In addition, we amended the credit agreement for our senior secured credit facilities to obtain a new senior secured Term Loan A-6
Facility consisting of $3,634 million, of which $2,839 million aggregate principal amount consisted of amounts outstanding that rolled over from our Term
Loan A-2 Facility. Immediately after the rollover, $1,277 million aggregate principal amount of Term Loan A-2 Facility remained outstanding.

The proceeds from the new First Lien Notes were used to repay all of our outstanding $3,750 million First Lien Notes due June 2019. In addition, proceeds of
approximately $800 million of borrowings under our Term Loan A-6 Facility, the proceeds of the $650 million increase in the Margin Loan Facility, and a
portion of the proceeds from the new First Lien Notes were used to repay all of our outstanding amounts under the Term Loan A-5 Facility due December
2019. The remaining proceeds available from our new First Lien Notes were used to repay outstanding amounts under our Term Loan A-2 Facility and to pay
related premiums, accrued interest, fees, and expenses. This refinancing enabled us to smooth out our upcoming maturity profile while maintaining an
efficient cost of capital and minimizing our borrowings under our revolving credit facilities.

In addition, we repaid $400 million of our Term Loan A-2 Facility and approximately $33 million of principal amortization under our term loan facilities
during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020.

See Note 6 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report for more information about our debt and our unrestricted
subsidiaries.

Cash Flows

The following table contains a summary of our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the respective periods:

 Three Months Ended
 May 3, 2019  May 4, 2018

 (in millions)
Net change in cash from:    

Operating activities $ 682  $ 1,159
Investing activities (458)  (149)
Financing activities (719)  543
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (36)  (86)

Change in cash and cash equivalents $ (531)  $ 1,467

Operating Activities — Cash provided by operating activities was $682 million for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 compared to $1,159 million for the first
quarter of Fiscal 2019. The decrease in operating cash flows during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 was attributable to increased compensation and benefit
payments as a result of higher seasonal personnel payments, partially offset by improved profitability.
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DFS offerings are initially funded through cash on hand at the time of origination, most of which is subsequently replaced with third-party financing. As a
result, while the initial funding of financing receivables is reflected as an impact to cash flows from operations, this funding impact is largely subsequently
offset by cash flows from financing. Additionally, as a result of our adoption of the new leasing standard on lessor accounting in the first quarter of Fiscal
2020, the increase to future originations of operating leases results in a shift from financing receivables to capital expenditures, which benefits our cash flows
provided by operating activities by the increase in capital expenditures being reported as cash flows used in investing activities. DFS new financing
originations were $1.7 billion during both the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019. As of May 3, 2019, DFS had $8.4 billion of total net financing
receivables and $274 million of equipment under DFS operating leases, net.

Investing Activities — Investing activities primarily consist of cash used to fund capital expenditures for property, plant, and equipment, which includes
equipment under DFS operating leases, capitalized software development costs, strategic investments, and the maturities, sales, and purchases of investments.
During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, cash used in investing activities was $458 million and was primarily driven by capital expenditures, which were
partially offset by net cash proceeds from the net sales of strategic investments. In comparison, cash used by investing activities was $149 million during the
first quarter of Fiscal 2019 and was primarily driven by capital expenditures, partially offset by net cash proceeds from the divestitures of businesses and by
the net sales of investments.

Financing Activities — Financing activities primarily consist of the proceeds and repayments of debt, cash used to repurchase common stock, and proceeds
from the issuance of common stock of subsidiaries. Cash used by financing activities of $719 million during the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 primarily
consisted of repurchases of common stock by our public subsidiaries. In comparison, cash provided by financing activities of $543 million during the first
quarter of Fiscal 2019 was primarily driven by proceeds from the issuance of Pivotal common stock in connection with Pivotal’s IPO.

Capital Commitments

Capital Expenditures — During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, we spent $610 million on property, plant, and equipment, which included equipment under
DFS operating leases of $274 million. During the first quarter of Fiscal 2019, we spent $273 million on property, plant, and equipment. These expenditures
were incurred in connection with our global expansion efforts and infrastructure investments made to support future growth, and, in Fiscal 2020, the funding
of equipment under DFS operating leases. Product demand, product mix, and the use of contract manufacturers, as well as ongoing investments in operating
and information technology infrastructure, influence the level and prioritization of our capital expenditures. Aggregate capital expenditures for Fiscal 2020,
which will involve infrastructure investments, strategic initiatives, and funding our DFS leasing operations, are currently expected to total between $2.7
billion and $2.9 billion, of which $1.5 billion relates to the property, plant, and equipment recognized under the new leasing standard adopted in the first
quarter of Fiscal 2020.

Purchase Obligations — Purchase obligations are defined as contractual obligations to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on
us. These obligations specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum, or variable price provisions; and
the approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase obligations do not include contracts that may be canceled without penalty.

We utilize several suppliers to manufacture sub-assemblies for our products. Our efficient supply chain management allows us to enter into flexible and
mutually beneficial purchase arrangements with our suppliers in order to minimize inventory risk. Consistent with industry practice, we acquire raw materials
or other goods and services, including product components, by issuing to suppliers authorizations to purchase based on our projected demand and
manufacturing needs. These purchase orders are typically fulfilled within 30 days and are entered into during the ordinary course of business in order to
establish best pricing and continuity of supply for our production.
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ITEM 3 — QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

For quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk affecting us, see “Part II — Item 7A — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019. Our exposure to market risks has not changed materially from that set
forth in our Annual Report.
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ITEM 4 — CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

This report includes the certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). See Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 filed with this report. This Item 4 includes information concerning the controls and control
evaluations referred to in those certifications.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

In connection with the preparation of this report, our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of May 3, 2019. Based
on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level as of May 3, 2019.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended May 3, 2019 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. During the fiscal quarter ended May 3, 2019, we implemented new lease
reporting systems and related controls to enable us to adopt the new accounting guidance set forth in ASC 842, “Leases.” Given the significance of these
changes, we will continue to review and refine the systems, processes, and internal controls over leases, as appropriate.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth under the caption “Legal Matters” in Note 10 of the
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report.

ITEM 1A — RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, the factors discussed in “Part I - Item 1A - Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended February 1, 2019 could materially affect our business, operating results, financial condition, or prospects. The risks described in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K and our subsequent SEC reports are not the only risks facing us.  There are additional risks and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial that also may materially adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, or
prospects.
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ITEM 2 — UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, we issued to certain employees a total of 14,357 shares of our Class C Common Stock for an aggregate purchase price
of approximately $0.2 million pursuant to exercises of stock options granted under the Dell Inc. Amended and Restated 2002 Long-Term Plan. The foregoing
transactions were effected in reliance on the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 afforded by Rule 701 thereunder as transactions
pursuant to compensatory benefit plans or contracts relating to compensation as provided under such rule.

Under the Company’s certificate of incorporation, at any time and from time to time, any holder of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock has the
right to convert all or any of the shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock, as applicable, held by such holder into shares of Class C
Common Stock on a one-to-one basis. 

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, we issued 998,419 shares of Class C Common Stock to nine stockholders upon the stockholders’ conversion of the
same number of shares of Class A Common Stock into Class C Common Stock in accordance with the terms of our certificate of incorporation. We relied on
the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 afforded by Section 3(a)(9) thereof. No commission or other remuneration was paid or given
directly or indirectly in connection with our exchange of securities with any stockholder.

89



Table of Contents

ITEM 5 — OTHER INFORMATION

As previously reported, contractual transfer restrictions on non-traded shares of Class C Common Stock imposed in connection with the Class V transaction
that closed on December 28, 2018 will expire beginning on June 27, 2019 (the “initial lock-up expiration date”). As of May 3, 2019, such transfer restrictions
applied to approximately 23,798,934 outstanding shares of Class C Common Stock as well as approximately 408,479,708 outstanding shares of Class A
Common Stock and approximately 136,986,858 outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock that are convertible into shares of Class C Common Stock.

As of May 3, 2019, Dell Technologies had approximately 173 million shares of Class C Common Stock outstanding. As of such date, the
406,290,710 outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock held by Michael S. Dell, the Susan Lieberman Dell Separate Property Trust, MSDC Denali
Investors, L.P. and MSDC Denali EIV, LLC, and the 136,986,858 outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock held by certain investment funds affiliated
with Silver Lake Partners were convertible into shares of Class C Common Stock at any time on a one-to-one basis. After the initial lock-up expiration date,
such shares, upon any conversion into shares of Class C Common Stock, will be eligible for resale in the public market pursuant to Rule 144 under the
Securities Act, subject, as applicable, to volume, manner of sale, and other limitations under Rule 144. In addition, on the initial lock-up expiration date,
transfer restrictions on the 18,181,818 outstanding shares of Class C Common Stock held by entities affiliated with Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited will
expire, and such shares will be eligible for resale in the public market pursuant to Rule 144.

Further, as of May 3, 2019, Dell Technologies had approximately 30,209,009 shares of Class C Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise of
outstanding vested stock options under Dell Technologies’ stock incentive plans, all of which would have been, upon issuance, eligible for sale in the public
market pursuant to Rule 144, subject to expiration or waiver of applicable contractual transfer restrictions that, subject to certain exceptions, are scheduled to
expire beginning on the initial lock-up expiration date.

90



Table of Contents

ITEM 6 — INDEX TO EXHIBITS

The Company hereby files or furnishes the exhibits listed below:

Exhibit
Number  Description

4.1

 

Base Indenture, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee and Notes Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Dell Technologies Inc. (the “Company”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”) on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

4.2

 

2024 Notes Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee and Notes Collateral Agent, including
the form of Global Note for 4.000% Senior Notes due 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

4.3

 

2026 Notes Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee and Notes Collateral Agent, including
the form of Global Note for 4.900% Senior Notes due 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

4.4

 

2029 Notes Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee and Notes Collateral Agent, including
the form of Global Note for 5.300% Senior Notes due 2029 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

4.5

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the guarantors party
thereto and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Barclays Capital Inc., Citigroup Global Markets, Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as the representatives for the initial purchasers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21,
2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

4.6

 

2021 Notes Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

4.7

 

2024 Notes Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-
37867).

4.8

 

Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of March 20, 2019, among Dell International L.L.C, EMC Corporation, the guarantors party
thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee and Notes Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.11 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No.
001-37867).

4.9
 

Joinder Agreement to the Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 20, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 21, 2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).

10.1

 

Fifth Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2019, to the Credit Agreement among Denali Intermediate Inc., Dell Inc., Dell International
L.L.C., EMC Corporation, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as Term Loan B Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Term Loan A/Revolver Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 14, 2019) (Commission File No.
001-37867).

10.2*

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Dell Technologies Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 19, 2019) (Commission File No.
001-37867).

10.3*

 

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Dell Technologies Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 19,
2019) (Commission File No. 001-37867).
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31.1††
 

Certification of Michael S. Dell, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2††
 

Certification of Thomas W. Sweet, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1†††

 

Certifications of Michael S. Dell, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Thomas W. Sweet, Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101 .INS††
 

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document.

101 .SCH††  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101 .CAL††  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101 .DEF††  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101 .LAB††  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101 .PRE††  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

_________________

††  Filed with this report.
†††  Furnished with this report.

*  Management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements in which directors or executive officers participate.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 

 DELL TECHNOLOGIES INC.
   

 By: /s/ MAYA MCREYNOLDS
  Maya McReynolds
  Senior Vice President, Corporate Finance and
  Chief Accounting Officer
  (On behalf of registrant and as principal accounting officer)

Date: June 10, 2019
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF MICHAEL S. DELL, CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael S. Dell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dell Technologies Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

June 10, 2019  /s/ MICHAEL S. DELL
  Michael S. Dell
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THOMAS W. SWEET, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas W. Sweet, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dell Technologies Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

June 10, 2019  /s/ THOMAS W. SWEET
  Thomas W. Sweet
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS OF MICHAEL S. DELL, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AND THOMAS W. SWEET, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned officers of Dell Technologies Inc. hereby certify that (a) Dell Technologies Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended
May 3, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and (b) information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Dell Technologies Inc.

June 10, 2019  /s/ MICHAEL S. DELL
  Michael S. Dell
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

June 10, 2019  /s/ THOMAS W. SWEET
  Thomas W. Sweet
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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